
BOROUGH OF TAMWORTH 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 
 

6 March 2024 
 
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held on Thursday, 14th March, 2024, 6.00 pm in 
Town Hall, Market Street, Tamworth 
 

A G E N D A 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
  
1 Apologies for Absence  

  
2 Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 12) 

  
3 Declarations of Interest  
 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-pecuniary) 

in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 
 
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of such interest.  
Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   
  

4 Question Time:  
 To answer questions from members of the public pursuant to Executive 

Procedure Rule No. 13 
  

5 Matters Referred to the Cabinet in Accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules  
  

6 Allocations Policy and Management of the Councils Housing Register 
(Pages 13 - 148) 

 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning) 
  

7 Exclusion of the Press and Public  

NON-CONFIDENTIAL



 To consider excluding the Press and Public from the meeting by passing the 
following resolution:- 
 
“That in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
and Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following business on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public  interest in disclosing the 
information to the public” 
 
At the time this agenda is published no representations have been received that 
this part of the meeting should be open to the public. 
  

8 Update on Commercial Lease (To Follow) 
 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Town Centre and Assets) 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
  _____________________________________ 
 
Access arrangements 

If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Filming of Meetings 

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 
Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 
be found here for further information. 

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about being filmed, please contact a member 
of Democratic Services before selecting a seat. 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 
here 

 
 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


 
 
To Councillors: T Jay, S Smith, T Clements, A Cooper, J Oates, M Summers and 

P Thompson. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 
CABINET 

HELD ON 22nd FEBRUARY 2024 
 
 
 
PRESENT: Councillor T Jay (Chair), Councillors S Smith (Deputy Chair), 

T Clements and P Thompson 
 
The following officers were present: Andrew Barratt (Chief Executive), Rebecca 
Smeathers (Executive Director Finance (S151)), Joanne Goodfellow (Assistant 
Director Finance), Tina Mustafa (Assistant Director Neighbourhoods), Tracey 
Pointon (Legal Admin & Democratic Services Manager) and Tracey Smith 
(Democratic Services Assistant) 
 
 

126 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A Cooper Councillor J 
Oates and M Summers. 
 

127 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the previous meetings held on 25th  January  2024 and 1st 
February 2024 were approved and signed as a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor T Clements and seconded by Councillor S Smith) 
 

128 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

129 QUESTION TIME:  
 
None 
 

130 MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  
 
None 
 

131 CORPORATE VISION, PRIORITIES PLAN, BUDGET & MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2024/25  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 22 February 2024 
 

 
 

 

Report of the Leader of the Council, Finance and Governance to approve the 
recommended package of budget proposals (attached at Appendix 2) to enable 
the Council to agree the: 
 
• General Fund (GF) Revenue Budget and Council Tax for 2024/25;  
• Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget for 2024/25;  
• 5 Year General Fund Capital Programme (2024/29);  
• 5 Year HRA Capital Programme (2024/29);  
• 3 Year General Fund Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) (2024/27); and • 
5 Year HRA Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) (2024/29). 
 
 
To comply with the requirement of the Council’s Treasury Management Policy in 
reporting to Council the proposed strategy for the forthcoming year and the Local 
Government Act 2003 with the reporting of the Prudential Indicators (attached at 
Appendix 3) and the requirement to prepare an annual Corporate Capital Strategy 
(Appendix A of the MTFS). 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet: 

  
 endorsed the following recommendations to proceed to Council for 

approval: 
  

1. the proposed revisions to Service Revenue Budgets (Policy 
Changes) (Appendix E of the MTFS); 

  
2. the sum of £27,070 be applied from Council Tax Collection Fund 

surpluses in reducing the Council Tax demand in 2024/25 (Table 16, 
Section 7.8 of the MTFS); 

  
3.  the sum of £1,151,630 be applied to Business Rates Collection 

Fund deficits in 2024/25 (Table 16, Section 7.8 of the MTFS); 
  

4. that on 14 December 2023, the Cabinet calculated the Council Tax 
Base 2024/25 for the whole Council area as 23,479 [Item T in the 
formula in Section 31B(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, as amended (the "Act")]; 

  
5. that the Council Tax requirement for the Council’s own purposes for 

2023/24 is £4,759,193 (Appendix F and Appendix H of the MTFS); 
  

6. the following amounts as calculated for the year 2024/25 in 
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Act: 

 a. £4,759,193 being the amount calculated by the Council in 
accordance with Section 31A(4) of the Act as its Council Tax 
requirement for the year (Item R in the formula in Section 31A(4) of 
the Act); 

 b. £202.70 being the amount at 6 (a) above (Item R), all divided by 
Item T (at 4 above), calculated by the Council, in accordance with 
Section 31B(1) of the Act, as the basic amount of its Council Tax for 
the year; 

Page 6



Cabinet 22 February 2024 
 

 
 

 

  
7. the Council Tax level for the Borough Council for 2024/25 of £202.70 

(an increase of £5.81 (2.95%) on the 2023/24 level of £196.89) at 
Band D; 

  
8. an aggregate Council Tax (comprising the respective demands of 

the Borough Council, Staffordshire County Council, Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner Staffordshire and Stoke-on Trent 
and Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Authority) of £2,107.68 at Band D 
for 2024/25 be noted (£2,012.94 in 2023/24) (Appendix H of the 
MTFS); 

  
9. the Council Tax levels at each band for 2024/25 (Appendix H of the 

MTFS); 
  

10. the sum of £1,134,859 be transferred from General Fund Revenue 
Balances in 2024/25 (Appendix F of the MTFS); 

  
11. the Summary General Fund Revenue Budget for 2024/25 (Appendix 

F of the MTFS); 
  

12. the Provisional General Fund Budgets for 2025/26 to 2026/27, 
summarised at Appendix F of the MTFS, as the basis for future 
planning; 

  
13. minimum level for balances of £500k to be held for each of the 

General Fund, Housing Revenue Account, General Capital Fund 
and Housing Capital Fund; 

  
14. Cabinet be authorised to release funding from the General 

Contingency budget and that the release of funding for Specific 
Contingency items be Page 16delegated to the Corporate 
Management Team in consultation with the Leader of the Council; 

  
15. proposed HRA Expenditure level of £18,674,610 for 2024/25 

(Appendix J of the MTFS); 
  

16. rents for Council House Tenants for 2024/25 be set at an average of 
£107.50 (2023/24 £99.66), over a 49 week rent year (including a 
7.7% increase in line with the Government’s updated Rent Standard 
for 2024/25); 

  
17. rents for Council House Tenants due for 53 weeks in 2024/25 be 

collected over 49 weeks; 
  

18. the HRA surplus of £1,053,800 be transferred to the Housing 
Revenue Account Balances in 2024/25 (Table 18, Section 8.8 of the 
MTFS); 

  
19. the proposed 5 year General Fund Capital Programme of 

£6,120,580, as detailed in Appendix 1 to the MTFS; 

Page 7



Cabinet 22 February 2024 
 

 
 

 

  
20. the proposed 5 year Housing Capital Programme of £45,436,220, as 

detailed in Appendix 1 to the MTFS; 
  

21. to delegate authority to Cabinet to approve/add new capital schemes 
to the capital programme where grant funding is received or there is 
no net additional cost to the Council; 

  
22. the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, the Treasury 

Management Policy Statement, Minimum Revenue Provision 
Strategy and Annual Investment Statement 2024/25 (as detailed at 
Appendix 3); 

  
23. the Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Limits for 2024/25 to 

2026/27 contained within Appendix 3 to the MTFS; 
  

24. he detailed criteria of the Investment Strategy 2024/25 contained in 
the Treasury Management Strategy; and 

  
25. the Corporate Capital Strategy and associated Action Plan (as 

detailed at Appendix 1 of the MTFS). 
  
 (Moved by Councillor T Jay and seconded by Councillor P 

Thompson) 
  
 

132 REVIEW OF FEES & CHARGES 2023/24  
 
Report of the Leader of the Council, Finance and Governance to seek approval 
for the proposed fees and charges payable with effect from 1st April 2024. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet: 

  
1. Implemented the annual inflationary increase (5%) for the fees 

and charges where appropriate. 
  

2. Endorsed increases in the charges applied for goods sold 
through the catering bar and shops throughout the year as 
these are based on cost price plus a margin. 

  
 (Moved by Councillor T Jay and seconded by Councillor S 

Smith) 
  
 

133 WRITE OFFS 1ST APRIL 2023 TO 31ST DECEMBER 2023  
 
Report of the Leader of the Council, Finance and Governance to endorse the 
amount of debt written off for the period 1st April 2023 to 31st September 2023. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
  

Page 8



Cabinet 22 February 2024 
 

 
 

 

 
Endorsed the amount of debt written off for the period of  
1st April 2023 to 31st December 2023 (Appendix A-E). 

  
 (Moved by Councillor T Jay and seconded by Councillor S 

Smith) 
  
 

134 QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE REPORT  
 
Report of the Leader of the Council, Finance and Governance to provide Cabinet 
with an overview of Council performance for the third quarter of the 2023-24 
financial year (October to December 2023). It reports the  Council’s position in 
relation to progress with strategic corporate plan projects and updates on the 
financial position, corporate risks, audits, information governance and complaints.  
The report was considered by Corporate Scrutiny Committee on 7th February 
2024. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet: 

   
Endorsed the contents of this report. 

  
 (Moved by Councillor T Jay and seconded by Councillor S 

Smith) 
  
 

135 EMERGENCY PLANNING AND CIVIL CONTINGENCIES  
 
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Health and Community 
Partnerships to set the current progress on the Council’s preparedness for 
Emergency and Business Continuity planning, as required by Civil Contingencies 
legislation, regulations, and directions. 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
  

1. Acknowledged and Supported the Emergency Planning & 
Business Continuity Improvement Plan – RAG rated and 
shown at Annex 1; 
  

2. Endorsed the Local Government Association’s 2018 Guidance 
document titled ‘A Councillor’s Guide to Civil Emergencies’ 
when dealing with major incidents and emergencies and 
shown at Annex 2; and 
  

3. Delegated authority to the Portfolio Holder for Environmental 
Health and Community Partnerships, in conjunction with 
Assistant Director Neighbourhoods, for  the development of 
member FAQs and communications guidance on handling 
emergency planning situations - supporting Member 
seminar(s) and onward training material via the Council’s 
MemberZone.  

  

Page 9



Cabinet 22 February 2024 
 

 
 

 

 (Moved by Councillor S Smith and seconded by Councillor P 
Thompson) 

  
 

136 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUSINESS PLAN 2023-2053  
 
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning to present the updated 
baseline assessment and financial projections for the Council’s Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) covering the 30-year period 2023/4-2053/4.  A detailed financial 
analysis, supported externally, is shown in Annex 1 and incorporates revised 
budgets and assumptions. 
 
 
RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
  

1. Approved the baseline and HRA investment forecast shown at 
Annex 1; 
 

2. Endorsed the financial modelling at Annexes 1 and 2, 
evidencing that the HRA balances in the medium term. But 
from 2042/43, the longer-term horizon scan shows that the 
plan is not financially sustainable; 
 
 

3. Agreed to consultation with Tenants and Leaseholders on the 
proposed scenarios around service efficiency to support 
interventions longer term to balance the HRA budget as 
shown at Annex 3; 
 

4. Delegated final approval, of the detail, in the full and summary 
HRA Business Plan working papers to the Portfolio Holder 
Housing and Planning, in consultation with the Assistant 
Director, Neighbourhoods shown at Annex 4; 
 

5. Approved the creation of a HRA Business & Viability Planning 
Project within the Social Housing Regulatory Programme to 
ensure oversight, scrutiny and monitoring of the consultation 
and progression of the service review opportunities identified; 
 

6. Delegated Authority to the Portfolio Holder of Housing and 
Planning, in conjunction with the Council’s S151 Officer, to 
write to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities to set out the financial challenges and further 
impact of government intervention on rent setting regarding 
the Council’s ability to invest in its stock achieving 
environmental ambitions particularly around decarbonisation; 
and 
 

7. Endorsed continued financial support and modelling with 
Housing Finance Associates supporting the Council’s HRA 
business planning, costs met from existing budgets. 

Page 10



Cabinet 22 February 2024 
 

 
 

 

  
 (Moved by Councillor S Smith and seconded by Councillor T 

Clements) 
  
 

137 LOCAL PLAN PROGRESSION OPTIONS  
 
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning sought Cabinet approval 
of the revised approach to the delivery of a new local plan for Tamworth resulting 
from Government’s proposed changes to the planning system, and for the 
publication of associated documents. 
 
Resolved that Cabinet 
  

1. Approved the revised approach to the development of the new 
local plan for Tamworth 

2. Approved the publication of the updated Local Development 
Scheme and Statement of Community Involvement. 

  
 (Moved by Councillor S Smith and seconded by Councillor P 

Thompson) 
 
Members thanked the Anna Miller, Richard Powell and the team 
for an in depth and informative report.   

  
  

  
 Leader  
 

 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 
 
 

Thursday, 14 March 2024 
 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning 
 
 

Allocations Policy and Management of the Councils Housing Register 
 
 
Exempt Information 
 
None  
 
1.0. Purpose 
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on the proposed changes to the Councils Allocations 

Policy. 
 

1.2 To highlight the need for further investigation into the letting of high-rise 
properties in Council stock. 
 

1.3 To set out the arrangements for sheltered accommodation (in the Councils 
own stock) and its use to be linked to the asset management strategy, 
ensuring the independent living for older people needing social housing is 
refreshed and best use of stock is made. 

 
2.0. Recommendations 
 
 Cabinet are recommended to: - 
 
2.1. Endorse the updated Allocations Policy as shown at Annex 1, which is 

supported by the policy change table shown at Annex 2. The changes to the 
policy are highlighted in turquoise and covered in more detail in 3.2 below. 

 
2.2. Delegate authority to the Portfolio Holder of Housing & Planning, in 

consultation with the Assisatnt Director Neighbourhoods, to agree the 
statutory consultation on a proposed local lettings policy for high rise 
properties, with a report back to Cabinet in 2024/2025 on detailed options and 
proposals. 

 
2.3. Approve, as part of the Asset Management Strategy, an assessment of 

sheltered units in relation to making best use of stock.  
 
3.0. Executive Summary 
 
3.1. Under the Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023 proposed new consumer 

standards,  the Council’s Allocation Policy falls under tenancy and 1.1 of 
Allocations and Lettings.  This is to ensure that local authorities have an up-to-
date policy and equitable allocation of homes along with Finding a home 
services continuing to offer access arrangements to allocations.  Significant 
reforms have been introduced giving the Regulator of Social housing powers 
to hold poorly performing landlords to account.  The Department for Levelling 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6

file:///C:/Users/local_SarahF/INetCache/Content.Outlook/4YBKHSH3/AD%20Highlight%20Report%20-%20Tenancy%20(002).docx
file:///C:/Users/local_SarahF/INetCache/Content.Outlook/4YBKHSH3/AD%20Highlight%20Report%20-%20Tenancy%20(002).docx


Up, Housing and Communities is currently out for consultation until 26th March 
on major reforms to how social housing is allocated “to make the system fairer 
and not available to those who abuse it”. The new revised policy proposed in 
this report supports the Council in ensuring the management of the housing 
register only allocates homes to people who are eligible and who qualify.  See 
Annex 5 for key proposed changes and how the proposed policy aligns. 
 

3.2 The Allocations Policy was last updated and approved at Full Council on 19th 
November 2019 with a further routine update in 2021. 

 
As part of the Council’s due diligence and commitment to meeting housing 
needs, an external assessment has informed this latest version.  The 
allocations policy remains under continuous assessment to meet regulation(s), 
legislation, and good practice, with a full update every 3 years, involving 
external and independent support. Campbell Tickell Ltd (CT) were 
commissioned to support the process of reviewing the policy recommendedt. 
Their assessment of the current policy is shown in Annex 2, which highlights 
the key changes in detail for Cabinet. This process informed the revised draft 
presented to Cabinet in Annex 1. 

 
 
3.3 A summary of the changes is shown in the table below. 
  

Current Policy Recommended Changes 
The content and accessibility of 
the current policy is good. 

It has been improved further with the 
introduction of clear sections on regulation and 
legislation, options for housing in Tamworth, 
eligibility and qualification, application and 
assessment, allocations, and lettings and finally 
a section on decisions, complaints and reviews. 

Legislation compliant to 2021. Further compliance since 2021 has been 
introduced for Care Act, Human Rights Act, 
Children and Social Work Act and the Armed 
Forces Act 

 New section on force majeure has been 
introduced. 

 New section on the statement of choice has 
been introduced. 

Armed Forces contains the 
current covenant and pledge. 

This has been strengthened to show the 
statutory duty the Council must now 
demonstrate, which still secures a band1+ 
priority, giving priority to reserve forces as well. 

Financial thresholds to qualify 
for the Housing Register are 
currently set at single person 
households £30,000 and family 
households £60,000. 

In line with research demonstrated in the 
evidence pack in Annex 3, this has been 
changed to a household income of £70,000. 
Anyone over this will not qualify. Savings 
remains the same at £16,000 after comparisons 
with other local authorities showed them to be 
on the same or similar limits. 
 
As the Equality impact and access statement 
shows this to be a positive change (in that it will 
allow greater access to the Councils register) it does 
not require statutory consultation.  The 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-social-housing-reforms-to-crack-down-on-rule-breakers
https://democracy.tamworth.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=152&MID=4308
https://democracy.tamworth.gov.uk/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=18115&optionId=0


presentation at Annex 3, provided by Campbell 
Tickell shows detailed modelling in this regard. 

Negotiated tenancy surrender 
(also known as safe surrender 
agreements) exists for tenants 
who are facing incarceration or 
long-term medical care. 

This has been strengthened in line with 
regulatory expectations under the consumer 
standards, to include tenants whose tenancies 
are failing, where all tenancies sustainment 
measures have been exhausted and the tenant 
is asking for assistance. 

One and two bedroom 
bungalows (non-designated 
sheltered) currently prioritised 
for applicants who are 60 and 
over. 

Allocations will be prioritised based on those 
with assessed medical needs for this particular 
accommodation first.  Where there is nobody 
with an assessed medical need then, priority is 
given to those 60 years or above, based on 
band and band waiting time. 

 New section on effective band date giving 
greater transparency to the assessment 
process. 

Low Social, Welfare and 
Hardship Grounds 

Additions to this band: 
i. Care leaver up to the age of 25, who are 

still in receipt of support from their 
personal advisor. 

ii. Applicants who have a local connection 
to Tamworth and have been placed out of 
the area by the authority in-order-to 
discharge a homelessness duty but 
would benefit from returning to Tamworth 
to access wider support networks.  

Gypsies and Travellers Statement that indicates there are no pitches in 
Tamworth; should this change, the policy will be 
reviewed. 
Incorporation of sections previously in an 
appendix on advertising, bidding, shortlisting, 
offers and refusals to provider greater visibility of 
the allocations and lettings process. 
New section on tenancy determination, 
dovetailing it with the Council’s tenancy 
management policy. 

Choice based lettings 

New section on tenancy sustainment, 
dovetailing it with the Council’s tenancy 
management policy. 

Decisions in various sections of 
the policy consolidation. 

New section on decisions, and what is a 
complaint, a right of review or a change of 
circumstance to give greater visibility in the 
document. 

 
3.4  The external assessment has resulted in an evidence pack, shown at Annex 

3.  Summary headlines are shown below.   
 

Applicants on the Housing Register 
 

In 2019, prior to the policy review, there were 1535 applicants on the Councils 
Housing Register, this reduced to 449 following the implementation of the new 
policy and ensured a focused approach to supportin those in most need.  
 

Page 15



The table below shows a breakdown by band: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 The Allocations Policy has successfully supported the Councils ambitions 
around supporting those with most need and vulnerable to homelessness.  
Thie current allocations policy continues to re-enforce this approach. 

 
  

Applicants by Bed size:  
 

The table below shows a breakdown by bedsize and supports the continued 
demand for our ½ bedroomed properties.  The proposed increase to financial 
thresholds will mean more applicants can access housing and having a well 
managed housing register will enable targeted support.   

 
No of 
Beds  

April 2019 
 

April 2020 April 2021 April 2022 April 2023 
 

February 
2024 

1 917 850 247 258 156 173 
2 427 384 88 110 108 113 
3 133 115 50 81 84 96 
4 43 56 57 63 41 44 
5 13 8 7 8 8 10 
6 1 1 0 2 4 2 
7 1 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 1535 1414 449 522 401 438 
 
 Lettings (Council Stock) 
  

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 
General needs 225 185 229 146 149 
High Rise 26 18 20 22 25 
Sheltered 48 25 38 40 35 

Total 299 228 287 208 209 
  (**2020 is a part year due to covid)  
 
 Lettings for both Cuncil stock and RPs continues to be in the region of 

300-400 lettings per annum depending on availability of affordable 
housing.  This evidences the need to manage expectations carefully as 
having in excess of this number of the register would mean applicants 
wait far longer. 

  
 
 
 
Lettings (Registered Providers) 

      

  
April 
2019 

April  
2020 

April  
2021 

April  
2022 

April  
2023 

February 
2024 

Band 1+ 2 1 1 1 0 0 
Band 1 86 65 60 74 60 66 
Band 2 321 240 194 226 173 201 
Band 3 216 217 143 164 122 120 
Band 4 910 891 251 57 46 51 

Total 1535 1414 449 522 401 438 

Page 16



  
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

Lettings to 
registered 
providers 

153 141 124 100 139 

 
 
 Average Waiting Times for Council Stock in Month(s) by Band 
 

Band General Needs High Rise Sheltered 
 2019 2023 2019 2023 2019 2023 

Band 1+ 4 NA* NA 2 NA NA 
Band 1 5 3 3 2 4 5 
Band 2 10 8 9 3 4 7 
Band 3 34 7 23 3 12 3 
Band 4 64 NA 38 10 16 1 

*NA = No Applicants 
 

Average weighting times are clearly caveated as it is over simplistic to rely on 
this as a guarantee as it is dependent on applicant choice, stock availability 
and general bidding.  Put simply however the lettings results show average 
weight times have reduced supporting positive impacts forecast when the 
policy was significantly overhauled in 2019. In general needs cases all banded 
applicants waiting less time. 
 
The data supports further review of sheltered and high rise as waiting times 
are almost always due to demand for this type of stock; suggesting local 
lettings planning and review of stock types linked ot the asset management 
strategy is prudent. 
 

 Average Waiting Times for Council stock in Months by Bedroom Need 
 

Bedsize General Needs High Rise Sheltered 
 2019 2023 2019 2023 2019 2023 
1 bed 5 5 16 3 6 4 
2 bed 6 5 1 3 2 9 
3 bed 8 8 NA NA NA NA 
4+ bed 15 20 NA NA NA NA 

 
Again, caution is urged as the figures can mask nuances around applicant’s 
decisions about area, stock type, personal preference – often around waiting 
for council stock rather than preferring to explore private sector rented options.  
But when benchmarking with other Local Authorities, particularly in London 
Boroughs who talk about 20-30 year waiting times, Tamworth does have much 
lower wait times and this is due to robust management of the register which 
the current policy continues to ensure. 

 
3.5 An analysis has informed the allocations review to ensure intelligence led 

decision making.  A review of lettings at the high-rise has shown that officers 
have exercised their discretion in-order-to maximise lettings.  Typically, this is 
because housing benefit sanctions for under-occupation can result in longer 
advertising and lettings times.  

 

Page 17



The scope of the allocations review did not provide for a full assessment of 
options for high rise lettings, however, one such option may be a local lettings 
plan to make better use of stock, minimise applicants time on the waiting list 
and ultimately reducing rent loss. To examine this further it is recommended 
that local lettings arrangements are reviewed and delegation is sought for the 
portfolio holder for housing and planning, in consultation with the Assistant 
Director of Neighbourhoods to agree statutory consultation arrangements on 
the outcome of these options.  

 
3.6 Similar to the high-rise data analysis, lettings across the sheltered stock have 

shown that bed sit type accommodation is less popular than 1 / 2 beds.  This 
is common across all sheltered schemes as this also requires further 
exploration.  It is recommended that this is linked to the asset management 
strategy to assess re-design/ re-provision in-order to make best use of the 
stock.   The evidence pack in Annex 3 highlights the performance around the 
lettings and voids of sheltered stock. 

 
4.0. Resource Implications 
 
4.1. There are no direct financial implications arising from implementing changes 

to the allocations policy.  There are associated costs arising from the 
consultation, but on the basis, costs are likely to be minimised by using digital 
forms of communications, it is expected these are likely to be ‘de minimus’.  
Costs are likely to be less than £5k and can be met from within existing 
budgets within the housing solutions-based funding streams. 

 
 
5.0. Legal/Risk Implications Background 
 
5.1. The risks of not having the revised Allocations Policy would adversely impact 

the management of the housing register. 
 
5.2. The headline risks are captured in the table below. 
 

Risk Mitigation 
Non – compliance with the 
relevant legislation since 2021 
when the last allocations policy 
was approved. 

Continuous assessment, with a full 
update every 3 years, involving external 
and independent support. 

To examine the financial 
thresholds permitted to allow an 
applicant to qualify for the 
housing register. 

Annual review of the threshold in line 
with regulation, legislation and local 
economic factors. 

Equality and fairness of the 
policy. 

Continuous assessment and compliance 
with the legislation. 

Accessibility and transparency of 
the policy. 

Continuous assessment to ensure the 
policy is documented in clear terms in 
order to make it customer friendly and 
easy to administer and the production of 
an annual lettings plan to demonstrate 
performance 

 
 
6.0. Equalities Implications 

Page 18



 
6.1. An Equality Impact and Community Impact Assessment has been undertaken 

in the production of the revised Allocations Policy attached as Annex 4. 
 
6.2 There are no negative impacts demonstrated in the EQIA, the changes to the 

policy will have a positive impact in the following areas: 
• All existing applicants and new applicants will be favourably impacted 

by the accessibility of the document. 
• Households on low income will benefit from the increased financial 

threshold. 
• Council tenants who need to be rehoused because all other avenues to 

sustain the tenancy have been exhausted will benefit. 
• Care leavers will benefit up to the age of 25. 
• Out-of-borough homeless households placements will benefit. 

 
 
7.0. Environment and Sustainability Implications (including climate change) 
 
7.1. There are no implications due to the changes in the Allocations Policy. 
 
8.0. Matters for Consideration 
 
8.1. Please see Annex 5 for the current proposed changes to social housing 

allocations policy by the Department of Levelling up, Housing and 
Communities.  

 
9.0  Context 
 

The Localism Act, 2011, provides considerable freedoms for Councils in 
designing and implementing allocations and lettings policies.  In refreshing its 
approach to the management of the Housing Register, the Council has a dual 
responsibility to not only comply with its strategic housing aims as well as 
ensure compliance with tenancy standard regulations, monitored by the Social 
Housing Regulator, given its landlord obligations around the management of 
its own stock. 

 
 
Report Author 
Tina Mustafa,  Assistant Director Neighbourhoods,  
Sarah Finnegan - Head of Homelessness and Housing Solutions 
Supported by Rachel Khan, Senior Associate Consultant at Campbell Tickell Ltd. 
 
List of Background Papers 
None 
 
 
Appendices 
Annex 1 Full revised Allocations Policy March 2024 with turquoise highlights 

where the policy has been changed. 
Annex 2 The policy change table which shows the gap analysis undertaken by 

Campbell Tickell on the current policy, and the ensuing changes agreed 
with the Council. 

Annex 3 Evidence pack of information and analysis undertaken to support the 
recommendations to Cabinet. 

Page 19



Annex 4 The Equalities and Communities Impact Assessment. 
 
Annex 5             Proposed changes under the DLuHC consultation.  
 

Page 20



 
 
ANNEX 1 
 

 

________________ 
Housing Allocations Policy 

FINAL: March 2024 

 

________________ 
 

 

 

  

Page 21



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 2 of 77 
 

Version Control 

 

Revision History 
 
Version Date Author Changes 
1.0 4th January 2017 Gemma Sidaway 

Rae Mann 
Claire Keeling 

Major changes to existing scheme 
 

2.0 5th February 2018 Gemma Sidaway 
Rae Mann 
Sarah Finnegan 

Changes to accommodate the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

3.0 5th November 2018 Gemma Sidaway 
Joanne Mallaband 

Changes to reflect feedback from HQN Tim 
Brown 

4.0 1st November 2019 Gemma Sidaway Changes to reflect Legal Advice 
5.0 8th July 2021 Gemma Sidaway 

Joanne Mallaband 
Sarah Finnegan 

Changes to incorporate Eligibility 
amendments, Domestic Abuse Act and 
guidance on improving access to social 
housing for armed forces 

6.0 March 2024 Gemma Sidaway 
Sarah Finnegan 
Campbell Tickell 
Ltd (CT) 

A table of changes has been provided with 
the cabinet report following a gap analysis 
by CT. 

 

Approvals 
 
Name Title Approved 
Cabinet Allocation Policy 24.01.2019 

Health and Wellbeing 
Scrutiny Committee 

Allocation Policy 15.10.2019 

Full Council Allocation Policy 19.11.2019 

Cabinet Allocation Policy Update 08.07.2021 

Cabinet Allocation Policy Update March 2024 

 

Document Review Plans 
 
This document is subject to a scheduled annual review. Updates shall be made in 
accordance with business requirements and changes and will be with agreement with the 
document owner. 
 
 
Distribution 
 

The document will be available on the Intranet and the website. 

 

 

Page 22



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 3 of 77 
 

Please read this statement 

 
 
It is a criminal offence to obtain accommodation from the 
Council or any other social housing provider by knowingly and 
recklessly giving a false statement or deliberately 
withholding information.  By doing so you may be prosecuted 
and fined.   
 
The Council or Registered Provider will seek possession of 
any tenancy granted as a result of information later found to 
be false or misleading.  Any offer of accommodation maybe 
withdrawn or result in an application being cancelled and an 
applicant being disqualified from the housing register. 
  

Page 23



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 4 of 77 
 

Table of Contents 

1 Introduction ...................................................................................................................7 

1.1 The Allocation Policy .................................................................................................7 

1.2 Legal Framework ......................................................................................................8 

1.3 Definition of an ‘allocation’ of accommodation” ......................................................10 

1.4 Data Protection and Confidentiality .........................................................................11 

1.5 Equality and Diversity .............................................................................................11 

1.6 Force Majeure .........................................................................................................12 

1.7 Review of this Policy ...............................................................................................12 

1.8 Statement on Choice ..............................................................................................12 

2 Options for housing in Tamworth ..............................................................................14 

2.1 Tamworth Allocations Model ...................................................................................14 

2.2 Housing Register ....................................................................................................15 

2.3 Mutual Exchanges for Social Tenants ....................................................................15 

2.4 Low-Cost Home Ownership ....................................................................................16 

2.5 Private Renting .......................................................................................................16 

2.6 Adaptations to your home .......................................................................................17 

2.7 Help and Advice ......................................................................................................17 

2.8 Registered Providers ..............................................................................................18 

3 Eligibility and Qualification ........................................................................................19 

section Eligibility ..................................................................................................................19 

3.2 Right to Move ..........................................................................................................19 

3.3 Armed Forces .........................................................................................................20 

3.4 Applicants under 18 years old .................................................................................21 

3.5 Serious Offenders ...................................................................................................21 

3.6 National Witness Mobility Scheme (NWMS) ...........................................................22 

3.7 Qualification ............................................................................................................22 

3.7.1 Qualifying Person ................................................................................................23 

3.7.2 Local Connection ................................................................................................23 

3.7.3 Local Connection Exemptions ............................................................................24 

3.8 Disqualification ........................................................................................................25 

3.8.1 Disqualified Persons ...........................................................................................25 

3.8.2 Disqualification Criteria .......................................................................................26 

3.9 Reasonable Preference without meeting the Qualification Criteria ........................30 

3.10 Exceptional or Mitigating Circumstances ................................................................30 

Page 24



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 5 of 77 
 

3.11 Negotiated Tenancy Surrender ...............................................................................31 

4 Application and Assessment .....................................................................................32 

4.1 How to apply ...........................................................................................................32 

4.2 Who can be included on the application form .........................................................32 

4.3 Councillors/Board Members/Employees and their close relatives ..........................33 

4.4 Fraud, Misrepresentation or Withholding Information .............................................33 

4.5 Verification and Checks ..........................................................................................34 

4.6 Bedroom Entitlement ..............................................................................................35 

4.7 Property Eligibility ...................................................................................................38 

4.8 Banding ...................................................................................................................39 

4.9 Reduced Preference ...............................................................................................43 

4.10 Cumulative Preference ...........................................................................................45 

4.11 Determination of an effective band date .................................................................45 

4.12 Housing Need .........................................................................................................46 

4.12.1 Medical Grounds .............................................................................................46 

4.12.2 Social, Welfare and Hardship grounds ...........................................................47 

4.12.3 Overcrowding ..................................................................................................50 

4.12.4 Move on from Supported Housing ..................................................................51 

4.12.5 Under-occupation ............................................................................................51 

4.12.6 Incentive to Move scheme ..............................................................................52 

4.12.7 Unsanitary or otherwise unsatisfactory housing .............................................53 

4.12.8 Decanting social housing tenants for major repairs ........................................53 

4.12.9 Best use of stock or tenants with an urgent need to move .............................55 

4.12.10 Move-On from Care (Staffordshire County Council) ..........................................56 

4.12.11 Homeless Households .......................................................................................56 

4.13 Gypsies and Travellers ...........................................................................................58 

4.14 Notification of your assessment ..............................................................................58 

4.15 Change of circumstances .......................................................................................58 

4.16 Cancellation of Applications ....................................................................................59 

5 Allocations and Lettings .............................................................................................60 

5.1 Direct Lets ...............................................................................................................60 

5.2 Choice Based Lettings ............................................................................................60 

5.2.1 Advertising a property .........................................................................................61 

5.2.2 Targeted adverts .................................................................................................61 

5.2.3 Withdrawing a property .......................................................................................61 

5.2.3 Bidding ................................................................................................................61 

Page 25



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 6 of 77 
 

5.2.4 Shortlisting ..........................................................................................................62 

5.2.5 Successful bidders ..............................................................................................63 

5.2.6 Unsuccessful bidders ..........................................................................................63 

5.2.7 Rejection by a Registered Provider ....................................................................64 

5.3 Sensitive lets ...........................................................................................................64 

5.4 Hard to lets ..............................................................................................................64 

5.5 Reciprocal arrangements ........................................................................................65 

5.6 Offer of accommodation ..........................................................................................65 

5.7 Limited Offers ..........................................................................................................65 

5.8 Affordability .............................................................................................................65 

5.9 Refusals ..................................................................................................................66 

5.10 Tenancy Determination ...........................................................................................66 

5.11 Tenancy Sustainment .............................................................................................67 

5.12 Lettings Plans .........................................................................................................67 

5.12.1 Annual Lettings Plan .......................................................................................67 

5.12.2 Local Lettings Plan ..........................................................................................67 

6 Decisions, Complaints and Reviews .........................................................................69 

6.1 Decisions ................................................................................................................69 

6.2 Complaints, Compliments and Comments ..............................................................70 

6.3 Reviews ..................................................................................................................70 

6.3.1 Band 1 and Band 1+ review (Priority Card) ........................................................70 

6.3.2 Annual Review ....................................................................................................71 

6.3.3 Disqualification Review .......................................................................................72 

6.3.4 Homelessness Suitability Review .......................................................................73 

6.3.5 Statutory Right of Review ...................................................................................74 

6.3.6 External Reviews ................................................................................................75 

Appendix 1: Allocation Panel Terms of Reference .........................................................76 

Appendix 2: Age Restricted Properties in the Borough .................................................77 

 

  

Page 26



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 7 of 77 
 

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Allocation Policy 

1.1.1 Every local Housing Authority is required to have a Housing Allocations Policy 
in accordance with the requirements of The Housing Act 1996 (Part VI) as 
amended. The Allocations Policy determines priorities and defines the 
procedures to be followed in allocating social housing. This is Tamworth 
Borough Council’s (Tamworth) Allocation Policy. 
 

1.1.2 The Allocations Policy sets out in detail who is and who is not eligible for 
housing, who is qualified to join the housing register and how this assessment 
is made. It also sets out how applicants can apply for and access housing and 
what service standards an applicant can expect.  
 

1.1.3 The policy also provides advice on other housing options that applicants are 
advised to consider.  
 

1.1.4 Tamworth operates a Choice Based Lettings (CBL) scheme called Finding a 
Home, which can be accessed online at: www.findingahometamworth.co.uk . 
The “Finding a Home Tamworth” is an independent website which focuses on 
housing options in the borough. 
 

1.1.5 This document explains how the Council will allocate its own properties and 
make nominations to other social landlords within the borough where the 
Council has nomination rights. Other social landlords referred to as registered 
providers have their own lettings policies, and these will apply in relation to the 
letting of their stock.  
 

1.1.6 The registered providers who may advertise properties through Finding a 
home at Tamworth are: 
 
• Platform Housing Group  www.platformhg.com   
• Places for People    www.placesforpeople.co.uk  
• Midland Heart     www.midlandheart.org.uk  
• Anchor Housing Association  www.anchor.org.uk 
• Orbit Homes    www.orbithomes.org.uk  
• Metropolitan Thames Valley  www.metropolitan.org.uk  
• Walsall Housing group    www.whg.uk.com  
• Clarion Housing Association  www.myclarionhousing.com     
• Bromford Living     www.bromford.co.uk     
• Sage Housing     www.sagehousing.co.uk  
• Southern Housing   www.southernhousing.org.uk 

 
 

1.1.7 A copy of the Allocations Policy is available free of charge. A summary is 
available routinely to everyone making an application for social housing. 
 

Page 27

http://www.findingahometamworth.co.uk/
http://www.platformhg.com/
http://www.placesforpeople.co.uk/
http://www.midlandheart.org.uk/
http://www.anchor.org.uk/
http://www.orbithomes.org.uk/
http://www.metropolitan.org.uk/
http://www.whg.uk.com/
http://www.myclarionhousing.com/
http://www.bromford.co.uk/
http://www.sagehousing.co.uk/
http://www.southernhousing.org.uk/


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 8 of 77 
 

 
1.1.8 Advice and assistance relating to access to housing is also available free of 

charge from the Housing Solutions Team. Please call: 01827 709709 or email 
them at: housingsolutions@tamworth.gov.uk. Face-to-face appointments are 
available by prior appointment. 
 

1.1.9 Anyone can approach the Housing Solutions service for advice and 
assistance.  However, social housing in Tamworth is very limited, and the 
Council no longer holds an ‘open’ register’. Instead, the Council operates a 
‘managed register’, which requires applicants to meet qualification criteria. 
Where an applicant does not qualify to join the housing register, the Council 
will still provide advice and assistance, which can include signposting and 
referring the applicant to alternative routes into housing where possible and 
where appropriate. 
 

1.1.10 This Allocations Policy is focussed on the assessment of applications for the 
housing register, and it is not a statement of how the Council deals with 
homelessness. Whilst there are references made to the provision of 
homelessness within this policy, there are separate processes and procedures 
for dealing with homeless applications.  The Council has a Homelessness 
Prevention Strategy which sets out how the Council aims to prevent 
Homelessness within the borough and this document and supporting evidence 
can be found on the Council's website: www.tamworth.gov.uk/housing-
policies. 

1.2 Legal Framework 

1.2.1 Legislation relating to allocation policy is set out in the following: 
• The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 as amended by Localism Act 2011 

(England) 
• The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 as amended by the Homelessness 

Reduction Act 2017 
• Allocation of Housing (Procedure) Regulations 1997, SI 1997/483 
• Allocation of Housing (England) Regulations 2002, SI 2002/3264 
• Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 

Regulations 2006, SI 2006/1294 and all subsequent amendments 
• ‘The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) 

(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 2019/861)’ 
• Homeless Reduction Act 2017 and all subsequent amendments to 

2020 
• Equality Act 2010 
• Data Protection Act 2018 and contained within the UK General Data 

Protection Regulation 2018 (UK-GDPR) 
• Care Act 2014 
• Human Rights Act 1998 
• Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
• Children and Social Work Act 2017 

Page 28

mailto:housingsolutions@tamworth.gov.uk
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/housing-policies
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/housing-policies


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 9 of 77 
 

• The Regulatory Framework for Social Housing 2019 
• Armed Forces Act 2021 

 
1.2.2 When framing the allocations policy further guidance has been sought from: 

• Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities 
• The Council’s Housing and Health Strategy 
• The Council’s Homelessness Prevention Strategy 
• The Council’s Tenancy Strategy 

 

1.2.3 The Housing Act 1996 (as amended) requires all Local Authorities to give 
‘reasonable preference’ to certain groups of people who are in most housing 
need. These groups are set out as follows; 

i. All homeless people as defined in Part VII of the Housing Act 1996, 
including people who are intentionally homeless and those who are in 
priority need. 

ii. People who are owed a duty by any local housing authority under 
section 190(2), 193(2), 195(2) (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the 
Housing Act 1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured by 
any such authority under section 192(3) 

iii. People occupying unsanitary, statutory overcrowded or otherwise 
unsatisfactory housing 

iv. People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including 
grounds relating to a disability) 

v. People who need to move to a particular locality within the district to 
avoid hardship to themselves or others. 

 
1.2.4 In framing this Housing Allocation Policy, the Council is also required to have 

regard to the following considerations:  
 

a. The policy must be framed so as to give reasonable preference to 
applicants who fall within the categories set out in s.166a of the 
Housing Act 1996 over those who do not. 

b. Whilst there is no requirement to give equal weight to each of the 
reasonable preference categories, housing authorities should 
demonstrate why applicants are given a particular priority. 

c. There is no requirement for housing authorities to frame their policy to 
afford greater priority to applicants who fall within more than one 
reasonable preference category (cumulative preference) over those 
who have reasonable preference on a single non-urgent basis. 
 

1.2.5 Local authorities can give additional preference to other groups of people who 
have a reasonable preference, if they have urgent housing needs.  The 
Allocations Code of Guidance provides the following examples to whom 
housing authorities should consider giving additional preference within their 
allocation policy because they have an urgent need to move: 

Page 29



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 10 of 77 
 

• Those who need to move urgently because of a life-threatening illness 
or sudden disability. 

• Families in severe overcrowding which poses a serious health hazard. 
• Those who are homeless and require urgent re-housing as a result of 

violence or threats of violence, including intimidated witnesses, and 
those escaping serious anti-social behaviour or domestic violence. 
 

1.2.6 The Social Housing Regulatory Act requires the Council to allocate 
accommodation in the fairest way possible, ensuring accessibility to 
suitable homes for people with disabilities and balanced award of priority. The 
allocation of properties should be transparent made more so by the publication 
of letting results.  
 
Tamworth is working continuously to: 

• Improve joint working with registered providers to ensure that social 
housing is allocated efficiently. 

• Remove barriers to accessing social housing for homeless households. 
• Ensure that vulnerable households are able to navigate allocations 

systems. 

1.3 Definition of an ‘allocation’ of accommodation” 

1.3.1 What is an Allocation? 
 

The Housing Act 1996 as amended provides that the Council allocates 
housing accommodation when they: 

• Select a person to be an introductory or secure tenant of housing 
accommodation held by the Council. 

• Select a person to be a fixed term tenant of housing accommodation 
held by the Council. 

• Nominate a person to be an introductory or secure tenant of housing 
accommodation held by another housing authority. 

• Nominate a person to be a starter tenant (also known as probationary) 
or assured tenant of housing accommodation held by a Registered 
Provider. 
 

1.3.2 What is not an Allocation? 
 

Secure, introductory or demoted tenancies arising in the following 
circumstances are not covered by the allocation’s provisions of the Act, and 
therefore fall outside of the scope of this document. These are contained 
within the Tenancy Management Policy (2009) and include: 

i. Succession to a tenancy on the death of a previous tenant 
ii. Assignment of a tenancy by way of a mutual exchange 
iii. Assignment of a tenancy to a person who would be qualified to succeed 

to the tenancy on the death of a current tenant 

Page 30



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 11 of 77 
 

iv. Transfer of the tenancy pursuant to a court order under family law or 
the Civil Partnership Act 2004 

v. Where a person becomes a secure tenant on ceasing to be an 
introductory tenant. 

 

1.3.3 Transfers 
 

Tamworth Borough Council tenants who do not have an identified housing 
need in accordance with the Allocations Policy must pursue mutual exchanges 
and will not be ordinarily entitled to join the housing register. 
 
Tenants with identified housing needs and who would usually be considered to 
be owed a ‘reasonable preference’ such as medical priority or would be 
considered to have a housing need under the terms of the policy for example 
overcrowding or under-occupancy are eligible to join the housing register and 
can also pursue mutual exchanges. 
 
For transfer applicants the Council will expect a clear current rent account  
before the tenant is allowed to move and they will also be required to have a 
property inspection to ensure there have been no breaches of the tenancy. 

1.4 Data Protection and Confidentiality 

1.4.1 The Council abides by the Data Protection Act 2018 and any other relevant 
legislation to protect applicants’ personal information and will process it for the 
purposes stated, and in accordance with the applicants’ rights. 
 

1.4.2 Data collected from applications for housing is processed in line with the Data 
Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Regulation (UK-
GDPR). 

1.5 Equality and Diversity 

1.5.1 The Council’s Choice Based Lettings Scheme and Allocations Policy have 
been designed to ensure that its services are fair and equitable for all of its 
customers. 
 

1.5.2 The Allocations Policy is accessible to all of those eligible and does not 
discriminate against anyone on the grounds of age, disability, gender, race, 
colour, national origin, sexual orientation or any other factor that may cause 
disadvantage. 
 

1.5.3 Due to legal circumstances, there may be occasions when applicants are 
unable to join the housing register. This criterion has been outlined within the 
Eligibility and Qualification sections of this Policy.  
 

Page 31



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 12 of 77 
 

1.5.4 This policy has been drafted with reference to the Equality Act 2010 and also 
with regard to the Council’s Public Sector Equality Duty.  
 

1.5.5 The Council remains committed to help customers and applicants who have 
difficulties and who are vulnerable, to access this policy. 
 

1.5.6 The Allocations policy and application forms can be provided in other formats 
if required, such as large print or braille. 
 

1.5.7 This policy has been developed following a consultation. 

1.6 Force Majeure 

We will not be liable for any delay in performing our obligations under this 
policy if the delay is caused by a Force Majeure (chance occurrence or 
unavoidable accident for example), provided that reasonable action and 
notification to customers is taken by the council. More fully, this means, 
circumstances beyond reasonable control of that party, including without 
limitation, strikes, lock outs, acts of God, cyber-attack, the act or omission of 
any governmental or other competent authority, war or national emergency. 

1.7 Review of this Policy 

1.7.1 Where there are changes that are required urgently for legal reasons, minor in 
nature or changes in government policy and / or legislation, these changes will 
be approved by the Executive Director of Communities or person with 
delegated authority. 
 

1.7.2 Any major change required to the policy will be subject to a full public 
consultation and member approval. 
 

1.7.3 All changes to this policy will be noted on the version control page of this 
document and an updated policy document will be uploaded to the Council's 
website: www.tamworth.gov.uk. 

1.8 Statement on Choice 

Once accepted onto the Housing Register the Council assesses priority 
according to band, housing need and effective band date. The choice-based 
lettings (CBL) system allows eligible applicants to select properties that they 
are interested in, rather than the council allocating the property to the next 
applicant on the Housing Register. 
 

  

Page 32

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 13 of 77 
 

The policy follows an open and transparent process, helping applicants make 
informed choices about where they want to live and the type of property they 
would prefer. The Council may restrict choice where we need to make a direct 
offer outside of band and time waited order. We may do this to meet the 
challenges the Council faces in relation to homelessness. Where practical we 
may allow the applicant to exercise a preference. However, this too may be 
restricted for some groups, including homeless applicants where the council 
needs to discharge duty or where we have to work with available stock. 
 

Page 33



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 14 of 77 
 

2 Options for housing in Tamworth 

2.1 Tamworth Allocations Model 

We operate a choice-based lettings scheme for the majority of properties in 
Tamworth. Some of those may be targeted for only the applicants who are 
eligible for them such as age restricted or adapted properties. We may make a 
direct offer of accommodation, to meet the needs of a household or the 
challenges facing the Council in relation to homelessness. 
 
The aim of this scheme is to: 
 

i. Enable applicant choice and informed decision-making, which 
encourages applicants to pursue all housing options which are open to 
them including supported housing, affordable housing, and affordable 
home ownership. 

ii. Ensure social housing is allocated and prioritised to those who are in 
most housing need, and thus help prevent homelessness.  

iii. Comply with statutory obligations, government policy and guidance 
from government and ensure that all allocations of properties are 
equitable, fair and transparent. 

iv. Contribute to the council’s strategic priorities namely living a quality life 
in Tamworth, growing strong together in Tamworth and delivering 
quality services in Tamworth. 

 
How do we know whether this scheme is achieving our objectives? 
 

v. We will carry out annual impact assessments of the scheme to check 
whether it is still achieving its aims. 

vi. The Council recognises that people need to understand how social 
housing is allocated to inform their decisions about housing. We will 
therefore communicate information about this scheme and how it is 
delivering through: 

• Dedicated web and online information, including performance 
information. 

• Regular articles in the Council’s Landlord publication Open 
House. 

• Regular dialogue with tenants through tenants’ forums and 
involvement groups. 

• Monitoring customer satisfaction. 
 

2.1.1 This allocations policy has been framed in accordance with equality 
legislation. An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken when this policy 
was drafted. 

Page 34



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 15 of 77 
 

2.2 Housing Register 

A Housing Register is a way of recording the details of households who have 
applied to the council for rehousing. Data from a Housing Register can be 
used to monitor trends, assess demand and provide grounds for future 
housing development and the creation of tailored housing advice services. 
The Council administers a Housing Register in order to fairly assess and 
record the needs of those who apply for housing assistance. 
 
Whilst having a Housing Register helps to organise the details of those 
requiring housing it does not in itself increase the number of properties that 
become available to be let each year. There is a shortage of housing in the 
borough of Tamworth and demand far exceeds supply. Unfortunately, it is not 
possible for the Council to rehouse everyone who applies. This means that 
there is likely to be a lot of people bidding when properties are advertised. 
Those people with the most urgent need and those that fall into the priority 
groups listed above receive the highest priority. 
 
Due to this shortage, there are other housing options available which might 
help applicants move to a more suitable property for them. These are outlined 
below. 

2.3 Mutual Exchanges for Social Tenants 

If you are the tenant of a local authority or a registered provider, mutual 
exchange or swapping properties with other tenants gives you the best chance 
of moving. You can exchange your property with any other social housing 
landlord’s tenant, anywhere in the country. The Council has developed a 
mutual exchange service for its tenants which runs through the  
House Exchange website: www.houseexchange.org.uk.  
 
There is no charge for Tamworth Borough Council tenants. 
 
If you are looking to move for work or to be near to family and friends, House 
Exchange is a national service which means that you will be able to see 
homes across of the whole of the UK, not just in Tamworth. You may 
exchange with other social housing tenants if everybody involved in the 
exchange process agrees. Normally an exchange will be agreed by the 
Council providing: 
 

a. Both properties are the right size for the incoming family’s needs. 
b. Neither party is having legal action taken against then for breaking their 

tenancy 
 

2.3.1 If you are not a Tamworth Borough Council tenant, please contact your own 
landlord as they will have their own mutual exchange service. 

 

Page 35

http://www.houseexchange.org.uk/


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 16 of 77 
 

2.4 Low-Cost Home Ownership 

If you are interested in owning your own home, then there are schemes which 
are backed by the government which may be able to assist.  More information 
can be found at: http://www.gov.uk/affordable-home-ownership-schemes 

2.4.1 Shared Ownership 

Shared Ownership is a great opportunity for those who want to get a foot on 
the property ladder but can’t afford to buy a home outright on the open market.  
The scheme gives you the chance to buy a share in a brand-new leasehold 
property (either a house or an apartment) on a part buy/part rent basis. You 
buy a share of between 25% and 75% of a home from a registered provider, 
usually a housing association. You then pay a subsidised monthly rent to the 
housing association for the remaining share. 
 
If you are interested in registering for shared ownership properties, information 
on what this entails and how to apply can be found at:  
https://www.gov.uk/shared-ownership-scheme  

2.5  Private Renting 

The Council is not able to help everyone who registers for rehousing as 
demand far exceeds the supply. Considering moving to private rented 
accommodation allows you to decide where you move to, what type of 
property you move to and when you move. 
 
There are many Internet sites that are very good with up-to-date properties to 
rent, including:  

Right Move   www.rightmove.co.uk  
Zoopla    www.zoopla.co.uk  
Gumtree   www.gumtree.com  
Spare Room  www.spareroom.co.uk  
Loot    www.loot.com  
Home    www.home.co.uk 
DSS move  www.dssmove.co.uk  
On the Market  www.onthemarket.com 
   

Additionally, you may be able to find private rented accommodation through a 
letting agent which may save a lot of time. It is worth remembering that letting 
agents may require you to have the finances available to be able to secure the 
property, whilst fees they can charge are restricted under the Tenant Fees Act 
2019, they may still require money for a deposit, rent or have a rent guarantor 
and you may also have to be able to provide references.  
 

Page 36

http://www.gov.uk/affordable-home-ownership-schemes
https://www.gov.uk/shared-ownership-scheme
http://www.rightmove.co.uk/
http://www.zoopla.co.uk/
http://www.gumtree.com/
http://www.spareroom.co.uk/
http://www.loot.com/
http://www.home.co.uk/
http://www.dssmove.co.uk/
http://www.onthemarket.com/


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 17 of 77 
 

You will find letting agents listed in the local papers, Yellow Pages, or 
Thompson Local or at: www.zoopla.co.uk/find-agents/letting-agents/tamworth/ 
 
If you have difficulties in securing private rented accommodation, the Housing 
Solutions team may be able to assist you. Please email 
housingsolutions@tamworth.gov.uk or call 01827 709709 for more information 
on the assistance that we may be able to provide. 

2.6 Adaptations to your home 

If you would prefer not to move home but are looking to do so because you or 
a member of your household are disabled or have a chronic illness that affects 
your housing requirements, you may like to consider having your current home 
adapted to meet your needs. 
 
There may be financial assistance that can be provided to help you do this, 
depending on your circumstances, in the form of a disabled facilities grant.  
Further information on disabled facilities grants can be found on the website: 
www.tamworth.gov.uk  
 
Self-referrals can be made to Staffordshire Cares for an occupational therapy 
assessment of your property and your needs. This assessment may then help 
indicate what additional support or adaptions may be required by you.  
Applicants may wish to contact Staffordshire Cares to arrange this by 
telephone 0300 111 8010 or by email: staffordshirecares@staffordshire.gov.uk  
 
Alternatively, if you are a Council tenant, speak to your tenancy sustainment 
officer or if you are a tenant of a registered provider, speak with your estate 
manager or housing officer. 
 
If you are a homeowner or private tenant, please contact the Housing 
Solutions Team at: housing-solutions@tamworth.gov.uk or call 01827 709709. 

2.7 Help and Advice 

The Housing Solutions Team can offer specialist housing advice to help you 
keep your current home, source alternative accommodation or provide advice 
on alternative housing options.  
 
Assistance may be provided by but not limited to: 

• Mediation services 
• Referrals to supported accommodation 
• Advice on joining the housing register and applying for social rented   

accommodation 
• Advice to those threatened with homelessness 
• Assistance to obtain private rented accommodation 

Page 37

http://www.zoopla.co.uk/find-agents/letting-agents/tamworth/
mailto:housingsolutions@tamworth.gov.uk
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/
mailto:staffordshirecares@staffordshire.gov.uk
mailto:housing-solutions@tamworth.gov.uk


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 18 of 77 
 

• Specialised housing options for victims of domestic abuse 
 

Advice on housing options can be found at: 
www.findingahometamworth.co.uk/content/HousingOptions/ 

2.8 Registered Providers 

The Council has nomination rights to most of the registered provider with stock 
across the Borough. The Council will generally have 50% nomination rights to 
offers of accommodation made by registered providers within the borough. 
This means that we advertise properties from time to time that belong to 
another landlord. You can place a bid on these and the landlord lets to the 
applicant know if they have been successful. 
 
The lettings criteria for other landlords may differ to that of Tamworth Borough 
Council. Please make sure you read and understand who is able to bid on 
each nomination property before you make your bid. The property advert will 
list information on the landlord of the property and also the lettings criteria 
specific to that landlord. Whilst registered providers will retain their own 
lettings criteria, they must give due regard to this Allocations Policy when 
making decisions. 
 
Applicants may wish to contact registered providers directly to establish what 
their lettings policies are and if they allocate properties through any other 
means they may be able to access. Registered providers may also make 
direct allocations in accordance with their own policies and procedures. 

  

Page 38

http://www.findingahometamworth.co.uk/content/HousingOptions/


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 19 of 77 
 

3 Eligibility and Qualification 

3.1 Eligibility 

3.1.1 The statutory eligibility criteria for social housing are set out in section 160ZA 
(1-5) of the Housing Act 1996, as amended by the Localism Act 2011. 
 

3.1.2 An applicant may be ineligible for an allocation of accommodation under 
section 160ZA (2) or (4). Authorities are advised to consider applicants’ 
eligibility at the time of the initial application and again when considering 
making an allocation to them, particularly where a substantial amount of time 
has elapsed since the original application was made. 
 

3.1.3 The following persons are not eligible to join the register: 
• People who are “subject to immigration control” (unless they fall within a 

class prescribed by regulations made by the Secretary of State (section 
160ZA (2)) 

• People who are not subject to immigration control, but are nevertheless 
prescribed by regulation as being “persons from abroad” (this may 
include British citizens who are not habitually resident in the UK) 

• Any other person as prescribed by the Secretary of State. 
 
3.1.4 If a person who has been admitted to the register ceases to be eligible under 

the above criteria, he or she will be removed from the register with immediate 
effect. 
 

3.1.5 The EEA eligibility rules apply from the 1 January 2021. EEA persons and their 
families should seek advice on their eligibility at: Housing Rights Information 
for Migrants and Housing Advisors (England and Wales) (housing-rights.info) 
 

3.2 Right to Move 

3.2.1 The Right to Move qualification regulations 2015 states that Local Connection 
criteria must not be applied to existing social tenants who seek to move from 
another local authority district in England and who have a need to move for 
work related reasons to avoid hardship. 
 

3.2.2 To qualify the applicant must be a social housing tenant living in England. 
 

3.2.3 Applicants wishing to join the Housing Register due to work related reasons to 
avoid hardship are able to do so provided that they can evidence these 
requirements. 
 

3.2.4 Applications accepted under ‘Right to Move’ will be awarded Band 1 priority. 
 

Page 39

https://www.housing-rights.info/index.php
https://www.housing-rights.info/index.php


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 20 of 77 
 

3.2.5 The Council must be satisfied that the tenant needs, rather than wishes, to 
move for work related reasons and if they were unable to do so this would 
result in hardship. In determining whether the tenant needs to move the 
Council will consider the following factors: 

a. The distance and/or time taken to travel between work and home. 
b. The availability and affordability of transport, taking into account the 

tenant's level of earnings. 
c. The nature of the work and whether similar opportunities are available 

closer to home. 
d. Other personal factors, such as medical conditions and childcare, which 

would be affected if the tenant could not move. 
e. The length of the work contract. 
f. Whether failure to move would result in the loss of an opportunity to 

improve their employment circumstances or prospects. 
 

3.2.6 The qualification regulations only apply if work is not short-term or marginal in 
nature, nor ancillary to work in another district. Voluntary work is also 
excluded. 

3.3 Armed Forces 

3.3.1 The Armed Forces Act 2021 places a statutory duty on local authorities to give 
preference to former members of the armed forces and their families for the 
purpose of allocating housing. This supersedes all previous armed forces 
covenants and regulations. The Council continues to demonstrate its support 
to the armed forces community. We believe that those who serve in the Armed 
Forces, whether Regular or Reserve, those who have served in the past, and 
their families, should face no disadvantage compared to other citizens in the 
provision of housing services. Special consideration is appropriate in some 
cases, especially for those who have been injured or are bereaved. 
 

3.3.2 Qualification under the statutory duty applies as follows: 
a. The individual is serving in the regular forces or who has served in the 

regular forces within five years of the date of their application for an 
allocation of housing under Part 6 of the 1996 Act. We reserve the right 
to waive the 5-year rule at our discretion, and our decision to do so will 
be final. 

b. Has recently ceased, or will cease to be entitled, to reside in 
accommodation provided by the Ministry of Defence following the death 
of that person’s spouse or civil partner where they served in the regular 
forces; and their death was attributable (wholly or partly) to that service. 

c. The individual Is serving or has served in the reserve forces and who is 
suffering from a serious injury, illness or disability which is attributable 
(wholly or partly) to that service. 

Page 40



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 21 of 77 
 

d. The individual is a divorced or separated spouse or civil partner of 
service personnel who need to move out of accommodation provided 
by the Ministry of Defence.  

3.4 Applicants under 18 years old 

3.1.1 Applicants aged 16 or 17 will not normally be able to join the housing register. 
 

3.1.2 The only exceptions to this are as follows: 
• Where a statutory homelessness duty is owed. 
• For care leavers 6 months before their 18th birthday to allow the Council 

to work with them effectively to help source suitable alternative 
accommodation to try and prevent them from becoming homeless. 

• Where the applicant has been accepted into supported accommodation 
provided by the Council and there is a requirement for the application to 
be processed to enable the occupant to pay rent and other charges. 

 
3.4.2 All efforts, including family mediation, referrals to supported accommodation 

will be made to prevent homelessness and assist young people to achieve an 
appropriate housing solution to meet their need. 
 

3.4.3 Where an applicant under 18 is unable to join the housing register but is 
threatened with homelessness full advice and assistance will be offered to the 
young person for them to return home where it is safe for them to do so or for 
alternative accommodation to be sourced for them. 
 

3.4.4 The Council has signed a joint protocol with partners across Staffordshire local 
authorities and the County Council for homeless 16/17year olds.  The aim of 
this protocol is to ensure a county wide approach to assist the 16 or 17year 
old and to help prevent their homelessness.   As part of this protocol there is 
an agreement in place for joint assessments to be completed with colleagues 
from Staffordshire County Council. The Council will make the relevant referrals 
to enable this to happen. 
 

3.4.5 As a 16/17-year-old cannot hold a tenancy in law, there will also be a 
requirement for a 16/17-year-old to have an approved person to act as their 
trustee in relation to the tenancy agreement. This would normally be a family 
member or other suitable third party. 

 

3.5 Serious Offenders 

3.5.1 Applications made by applicants who are subject MAPPA will be subject to a 
robust and appropriate assessment of their eligibility and will be considered 
where an applicant needs accommodation that can be suitably monitored and 
managed due to the risk the applicant may pose or any risk to the applicant 
themselves. 

Page 41



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 22 of 77 
 

 
3.5.2 An allocation will only be made following a multi-agency risk assessment and 

once suitable accommodation has been identified and approved by a 
vulnerability panel. This will consider MAPPA (Multi-agency Public Protection 
Arrangements) guidance for high-risk offenders. 
 

3.5.3 Applications following a referral of MAPPA will only be entitled to a direct let in 
order manage any risk involved. They will be restricted as to which properties 
they can bid for, and properties will be identified and recommended for serious 
offenders by the Vulnerability Partnership.  They will not be issued a band and 
will be subject to a direct match. The final decision in relation to a property lies 
with the Housing Solutions Manager. 

3.6 National Witness Mobility Scheme (NWMS) 

3.6.1 The Council and its partner Registered Providers support the NWMS and may 
consider at its discretion referrals made to house witnesses.  In order to assist 
the national police force to tackle serious crime and to support witnesses in 
the legal process, the Council works in partnership with colleagues in the 
NWMS. The scheme enables witnesses to relocate outside their area to a 
place of safety. 
 

3.6.2 On receipt of a referral, the Council will take into account the level of risk the 
applicant is facing, and the demand and supply issues at the time in the 
borough of Tamworth and any acceptance of a referral will be determined by 
the Allocations Panel or Head of Service. 
 

3.6.3 In order to protect the identity of the witness, the applicants will only be 
required to complete a housing application form, on acceptance of the referral. 
It will be necessary for the applicants to meet the eligibility criteria for entry 
onto the register in accordance with Section 3.7 and 3.8 of this policy, and the 
proof of identity requirements must be complied with. The local connection 
criteria will not be applicable. 
 

3.6.4 The Council will identify a suitable property and an offer of accommodation will 
be made direct to the applicant. Only one offer of suitable accommodation will 
be made and no restriction on the type of property to be offered will be 
accepted. The application will be cancelled if the offer is refused. 
 

3.7    Qualification 

The Council will only allocate to a qualifying person who is eligible as outlined 
in section 3.1. 

 
  

Page 42



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 23 of 77 
 

3.7.1 Qualifying Person 
 
Only an applicant with a local connection is considered a qualifying person.  
Local connection is defined below together with any exemptions. 
 

3.7.2 Local Connection 
 

The applicant or a permanent member of their household will need to 
evidence that they meet at least one of the following criteria in order to be 
defined as having a local connection to the borough of Tamworth. 
 

a. Residence 
 

• The applicant must have been a resident in the borough for at 
least two continuous years preceding the date of application and 
for the duration of their application. 

• For the purposes of residency, we will only usually consider 
settled (secure) forms of accommodation. This is usually 
medium to long term accommodation, and generally where there 
is a legal right to occupy the accommodation. For example, 
owning the accommodation, renting the accommodation or 
where they have resided with family with the intention of it being 
a long-term arrangement. 

 
b. Employment 

 
• Have permanent employment or be self-employed within the 

borough of Tamworth for a continuous period of at least 12 
months immediately preceding the date of application and for the 
duration of the application (although any employment need not 
necessarily be/have been with same employer). 

• This employment must be for more than 16 hours per week.  
Where working hours fluctuate i.e. casual or zero hour’s 
contract, an average will be taken over 12 months. 

 
c. Close family with additional health/welfare needs 

 
• Local connection can be established through family where there 

has been frequent contact and dependency and 
• The applicant has a close relative who has been living in the 

borough of Tamworth continuously for the last 5 years and 
• Where the relative has health or care needs which require the 

support of the household that is applying to move to be in the 
area or where a family member needs to move to the borough of 
Tamworth to be closer to family who live there from whom they 
require care or support. 

Page 43



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 24 of 77 
 

• Applicants will need to provide medical evidence to support this 
criterion along with evidence to show frequent contact or 
dependency. 

• Close relative for this purpose is defined as parents, children, 
siblings, grandparents or grandchildren including step relatives. 

 
d. An applicant will retain their local connection where they have left the 

borough due to: 
• Being in hospital 
• Having to move out of the area for care  
• Being accommodated in supported accommodation outside the 

district 
• Being placed in temporary accommodation outside of the 

borough by the Council 
 

3.7.3 Local Connection Exemptions 
 

In addition to members of the armed forces and those applying through the 
right to move scheme, the only exemptions to satisfying this criterion are as 
follows: 
 

i. The applicants are relevant persons for the purpose of the Allocation of 
Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) (England) Regulations 
2012. 
 

ii. The applicant is homeless, and the Council has accepted a full duty to 
them under the Housing Act 1996 (as amended) S193(2). 

 
iii. Applicants who are homeless and who are owed a duty requiring the 

Council to help them secure accommodation under S189B of the 
Homeless Reduction Act 2017, but only for as long as that duty is owed 
to the applicant. 

 
iv. Applicants who are threatened with homelessness and who are owed a 

duty requiring the Council to take reasonable steps to help applicants 
ensure that their accommodation does not cease to be available for 
their occupation under S195 of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
but only for as long as that duty is owed to the applicant. 

 
v. The applicant does not have a local connection to any other Council. 

 
vi. The applicant has been unable to establish normal residency due to 

rough sleeping. 
 

vii. Where the applicants are travellers or gypsies, and this has prevented 
local connection through the normal residency criteria. 

 
 

Page 44



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 25 of 77 
 

viii. There are significant and special circumstances with overriding reasons 
requiring the move into Tamworth for reasons of safety; when an 
applicant is fleeing domestic abuse from another area, is on a witness 
protection programme or whereby not moving to Tamworth would be 
detrimental to their wellbeing or cause significant hardship. This would 
be assessed on a case-by-case basis and would require approval from 
a senior officer within the Housing Solutions Service. 

 
ix. Local connection through special reasons may also be granted where 

the applicant has been staying temporarily with friends or family (known 
as ‘sofa surfers’, and where there are supplementary links to the area 
such as recent previous residency, where they have only been residing 
with them temporarily due to the threat of homelessness or if they need 
to be in Tamworth for a medical or welfare need. 

3.8 Disqualification 

3.8.1 Disqualified Persons 

There are some circumstances where people are disqualified from joining the 
housing register as the Council will only allocate social housing to those 
people that it has defined as “qualifying persons” under Section 160ZA(6)(a) of 
the Act. 
 

i. Where applicants are disqualified from the housing register, they will 
still be able to access advice and assistance on the housing options 
outlined in section 2 of this document. 
 

ii. Where an applicant has been disqualified or accepted onto the housing 
register but subsequently disqualified; usually because of unacceptable 
behaviour or because it has come to the attention of the Council that 
they should have been disqualified when they made the application, 
they will be notified in writing. The applicant has a right to ask for review 
within 21 days of the decision. See section 6. The application will be 
cancelled if no right of review is received. 

 
iii. An applicant can reapply at any time, and request their situation be 

reviewed, if they feel they are entitled to now qualify. 

  

Page 45



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 26 of 77 
 

3.8.2 Disqualification Criteria 

An applicant will not qualify if they have at least one of the following: 

a. Unacceptable behaviour or former tenant debt 

 
Where an applicant or a permanent member of their household has 
been guilty of ‘unacceptable behaviour’ in their conduct of a current or 
previous tenancy, they will be disqualified. An exception will be made 
where someone is homeless, and the council has accepted a main 
section 193 housing duty.  

Unacceptable behaviour can include, but is not limited to: 

• Owing rent or other housing-related debt from a current or former 
tenancy with a registered housing provider or a private landlord 
of 8 weeks or equivalent of their rent. 

• Using premises for illegal or immoral purpose. 
• Causing nuisance and annoyance to neighbours or visitors. 
• Convictions for criminal offences in or near to the applicant's 

home where the applicant still poses a threat to neighbours or 
the community. 

• Convictions for a criminal offence relating to abusive behaviour 
towards a Tamworth Borough Council employee, partner or 
contractor. 

• Convictions for housing or welfare benefits-related fraud. 
• Being violent towards a partner or members of the family or 

anyone in the neighbourhood and been convicted of an offence 
in relation to this or where it has met the threshold for an 
injunction or court order for example a non-molestation order. 

• Obtaining a tenancy by deception, for example by giving false 
information. 

• The applicant is subject to a civil injunction due to unreasonable 
behaviour. 

In determining whether an applicant is disqualified due to unacceptable 
behaviour, the Council will consider the following: 

i. Has the applicant or a member of the applicant’s household 
been guilty of unacceptable behaviour? 

ii. Was the unacceptable behaviour serious enough to have entitled 
a landlord to obtain an order for possession, whether or not such 
an order was sought? 

Page 46



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 27 of 77 
 

iii. At the time of the application, is the applicant still unsuitable to 
be a tenant by reason of that behaviour, or the behaviour of a 
member of his/her household? 

 

Unacceptable behaviour will result in an initial disqualification period of 
12 months, which may be extended unless the applicant has rectified 
their behaviour. To be admitted to the register the disqualification must 
have been rectified, for example if an applicant pays off or significantly 
reduces their current or former rent arrears. If an applicant’s behaviour 
has been such that they have received a criminal conviction, they may 
be disqualified until the conviction is spent. For convictions which may 
never be spent, the Council would consider admitting them onto the 
housing register once they have served an imposed sentence and the 
licence conditions.   

The Council will not disqualify someone from the housing register once 
the conviction has been spent. 

Where the disqualification is as a result of rent arrears and the applicant 
has demonstrated that they have a payment plan in place, that they have 
been making regular payments for a period of 3 months, which are of a 
reasonable and proportionate amount to the debt owed amount, then the 
Council will allow them to join the register with a reduced preference.  
The amount required to be paid on a payment plan would be subject to 
an affordability assessment and based on the applicant’s income and 
expenditure. 

b. Property Ownership 

 
The Code of Guidance recommends that local authorities should avoid 
allocating social housing to people who already own their home. The 
Council will therefore only allocate social housing a person who owns 
their own home in exceptional circumstances. An applicant who owns 
their own homes will be provided advice and guidance on other housing 
options.  

 
Applicants will not qualify to join (or remain on the register) if they own a 
property either in the UK or abroad (either freehold, leasehold, under 
mortgage or shared ownership), unless they can demonstrate that: 

 
• They are in housing need and/or it is unreasonable for them to 

continue to occupy the accommodation and 
 

• They cannot liquidate or sell the property which would enable 
them to purchase or rent an alternative property suitable to meet 
their needs.  

 

Page 47



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 28 of 77 
 

Examples may include: 

i. They are homeless or likely to become homeless within 3 
months of their request due to the repossession of their current 
home and if they receive any equity this will not be enough to 
secure alternative accommodation. 

ii. A joint owner who has left the property or is leaving the property 
in order to escape domestic abuse and the perpetrator of the 
abuse is the other joint owner and the property cannot be sold. 
 

iii. There has been a breakdown in a relationship between joint 
owners and one has requested housing, the property has been 
sold, and they have insufficient resources secure alternative 
accommodation. 

 
iv. A homeowner who has been accepted as statutory homeless. 

 
v. Where a closure order or prohibition notice due to serious 

disrepair has been served on the home  

All alternative housing options must also have been exhausted before a 
homeowner can join the housing register. Where adaptations are 
needed, funding them using other means will be considered. 

Applicants who own property they rent out will be expected to take all 
necessary legal steps to regain possession. This will apply to properties 
that are owned outright or still mortgaged and to properties where an 
applicant’s family may currently be residing. Where a homeowner has 
been unsuccessful in regaining possession, they may be allowed to join 
the housing register subject to approval by a director. 

Where applicants are able to register, before any offer of 
accommodation is made, proof will be required that the property has 
been sold or proof of the fact that a sale has been agreed.  Only in 
exceptional circumstances and where there are significant material 
overriding reasons would a property be allocated where the applicant 
still retains ownership of a property, and this would require approval 
from a director.  

c. Financial Resources 

Tamworth is permitted to take into account the applicants’ financial 
resources and whether this is sufficient to source their own 
accommodation. If the household's income is £70,000 or over, they will 
not qualify to join the register. 
 
 

Page 48



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 29 of 77 
 

A household income will take into account the income of all household 
members other than the income of non-dependent children. Income will 
also include all sources of income for the household, including (but not 
limited to) benefits, grants and income from employment.  

Disability Living Allowance or personal independence payments or any 
other replacement benefit for the above will not be included for the 
purposes of this calculation.  Payments awarded as a result of injury 
sustained whilst serving in the armed forces shall also not be included 
in any income calculation. Payments for compensation of injury would 
also not be included. 

These income ranges will be reviewed annually in line with any 
government directives, local economic factors and legislation. 

d. Savings, Assets and Capital 

Applicants with capital/savings/assets/investments in excess of £16,000 
will not qualify to join the housing register as they will be regarded as 
having sufficient resource to source alternative suitable accommodation.  
This amount is in line with the DWP criteria for eligibility for Housing 
Benefit. 
Where these savings are derived from a payment due to injury or 
disability for members of the armed forces who have recently been 
discharged unless there is an award towards meeting their housing 
costs they will not be included in this calculation. 

On a case-by-case basis the Council may allow applicants who exceed 
this threshold but require specialist accommodation for such as 
sheltered accommodation which cannot be readily sourced within the 
private rented sector or owned market to qualify. 

e. People with no housing need 

Applicants will not qualify for or be allowed to remain on the housing 
register if the Council is satisfied that they are suitably and adequately 
housed, that is, they have no recognised housing need under the 
Council’s Allocation Policy or fall into a reasonable preference category. 

 
The demand for social housing in the area exceeds supply and 
therefore social housing has to be awarded to those who are in the 
most housing need. The Council wants to manage demand and 
manage applicant’s expectations accordingly.   

 
For current social housing tenants who are adequately housed but still 
wish to move they may still be eligible for a mutual exchange. 

Page 49



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 30 of 77 
 

f. Refused 3 offers of accommodation within 12 months. 

Where applicants have refused 3 suitable tenancy offers within a 12-
month period, they will be disqualified from the housing register for a 
period of 12 months. The 12 months will commence on the date of the 
refusal of the third offer.  

The only exception to this will be where applicants have had a 
significant change in their circumstances following the making of the 
third offer and this will be at the discretion of the housing solutions 
manager. 

3.9 Reasonable Preference without meeting the Qualification Criteria 

3.9.1 The Council’s Allocations Policy must give reasonable preference to 
applicants who fall into the categories set out in sections 1.2.3 and 1.2.5. The 
Council cannot automatically reject an applicant who does not qualify under 
local connection criteria but who may still fall into a reasonable preference 
group for housing need. 
 

3.9.2 Applications will be considered using the reasonable preference criteria set out 
in this document. Successful applications where there is a reasonable 
preference, but no local connection will be assessed at a reduced priority and 
be demoted to the band lower than the one the applicant would usually be 
awarded if they had a local connection. 
 

3.9.3 If applicants fall into a reasonable preference category they will only usually be 
disqualified in exceptional circumstances and where the applicant has 
committed serious anti-social behaviour or has high rent arrears.   

 

3.10 Exceptional or Mitigating Circumstances 

There may be exceptional circumstances which are rare in number and nature 
where a Director may override the policy subject to a sound business case. 
 
Examples are listed below: 
 

• On a hard to let property where there are no natural eligible applicants 
the bidding criteria may be relaxed. 
 

• The home is adapted but applicants needing this adaptation would not 
ordinarily be eligible for that property type. 

 
• Relaxing the bedroom allocation rules to enable a household to 

consider a smaller property because there is a short supply of the large 
property they need. This will be subject to considerations as to the 
sustainability of that home, and the legislation on overcrowding. 

Page 50



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 31 of 77 
 

3.11 Negotiated Tenancy Surrender 

3.11.1 In order for the Council as a landlord or make the best use of resources 
available, the Council will consider awarding an applicant Band 1 in exchange 
for the surrender of their tenancy in order limit eviction costs, reduce the 
period of time properties are left vacant or to prevent rent arrears from 
occurring. 
 

3.11.2 This is subject to the surrender of the tenancy of the tenancy being done in a 
planned way and subject to the following provision; 

• The applicant is a tenant of Tamworth Borough Council and has been 
taken into custody or has to go into a mental health or other special 
facility for an extended period and 

• If they committed an offence, it did not constitute a breach of their 
tenancy agreement and 

• They have or are likely to be sent to prison or a mental health/special 
facility for more than 13 weeks and 

• They have conducted their tenancy in a reasonable way and 
• Their rent is up to date. 

 
3.11.3 Where a tenancy is failing, because the housing needs of the individual are 

complex and not suited to their accommodation, and all other avenues have 
been exhausted, and where the tenant asks for help, we may consider a 
negotiated tenancy surrender. Tamworth will only consider this where there is 
statutory agency involvement to support the surrender and any onward move, 
including the sustainment of their new tenancy. This will be at the Council’s 
discretion and our decision will be final. 
 

3.11.4 If the criterion for a negotiated surrender is met, then written confirmation of 
agreement will be provided. Band 1 will be awarded at the point the applicant 
makes their housing application and is able to legally hold a tenancy again. It 
will not be awarded if the tenancy is surrendered before the Council has 
agreed to the negotiated surrender. This will have a time-based parameter, 
tailored to the individual’s needs. For example, if someone is in receipt of drug 
rehabilitation for three months, then the band 1 would be expected within this 
timeframe not in perpetuity. 
 

3.11.5 Tenancy surrender would be subject to completion of a comprehensive report 
being completed by an officer and authorised by a manager in the housing 
solutions service or the allocations panel. 
 

3.11.6 An applicant, who has been granted negotiated surrender priority, may be able 
to bid for properties within 28 days of its award. However, if an applicant is not 
in a position to sign tenancy agreements and move into the property once it is 
ready or the offer of accommodation may be withdrawn and the band award 
deferred. 
 

3.11.7 An applicant would only be awarded this priority where they would not be 
disqualified from the housing register due to any other circumstances. 

Page 51



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 32 of 77 
 

4 Application and Assessment 

4.1 How to apply 

4.1.1 An application to join the housing register must be made using the online 
application portal. Evidence must be uploaded via the portal. You will need to 
create an account when you log on for the first time at: 
https://myhousing.tamworth.gov.uk/housing/www/register/webaccount. If you 
have any questions, or need help with your application, please get in touch 
with us via 01827 709709, email housingsolutions@tamworth.gov.uk, or use 
the webchat function on this website. 
 

4.1.2 Advice and assistance relating to access to housing is also available free of 
charge from the Housing Solutions Team. Please call: 01827 709709 or email 
them at: housingsolutions@tamworth.gov.uk. Face-to-face appointments are 
available by prior appointment. 
 

4.1.3 We will only accept applications from an applicant who: 
• Is eligible to apply for housing. See section 3.1 
• Qualifies under the policy rules. See section 3.5 
• Have housing need within the reasonable or additional preference as 

stated in this policy. See sections 1.2.3 and 1.2.5 
 

4.1.4 Once an application has been checked against the eligibility and qualification 
criteria, their application will be assessed in accordance with this policy to 
ensure that those in greatest need are given preference for an allocation, and 
the application will be awarded a banding. See section 4.8 
 

4.1.5 Multiple or duplicate applications for the same household are not allowed. 
 

4.1.6 Applications due to Domestic Abuse will be handled as per any requirements 
provided in the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. 
 

4.2 Who can be included on the application form 

4.2.1 The Council will accept single and joint applications. Joint tenancies will only 
be granted between husbands/wives/civil partners/un-married couples or 
between siblings. 

  

Page 52

https://myhousing.tamworth.gov.uk/housing/www/register/webaccount
mailto:housingsolutions@tamworth.gov.uk


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 33 of 77 
 

4.2.2 Additional persons who can be included on a housing application must be 
members of the applicant’s immediate family who normally live with the 
applicant.  Any other person will only be included on an application if the 
Council is satisfied that it is reasonable for that person to live with the 
applicant for example, emerging families.  This will exclude lodgers or anyone 
subletting from the applicant.  Anyone over 16 years of age included on an 
application as part of a household will also be included in the full assessment 
of the application including income, capital and assets. 
 

4.2.3 Children of applicants are only allowed on the application of the 
parent/guardian who has residency of the child(ren) and to whom Child Benefit 
is paid. We will ask for proof of both these documents. We define a child as 
someone who is either under the age of 18 or who is still dependant on the 
applicant e.g. due to continuing education. Where a Child Benefit award letter 
can no longer be provided the Council will accept a bank statement addressed 
to the applicant clearly showing the correct amount being paid directly by Child 
Benefit as long as there is also proof of relationship for example, a child’s long 
birth certificate to show the parentage of the child. 

 

4.3 Councillors/Board Members/Employees and their close relatives 

4.3.1 Councillors or members of the board of a Registered Provider working with the 
Council as well as employees of Tamworth Borough Council and their close 
relatives (parents, children, spouse or former spouse) can apply to the 
housing register. 
 

4.3.2 You must disclose your relationship at the point of application or if 
circumstances change, after the initial application has been submitted. 
 

4.3.3 All applications will be assessed in line with this policy and shall be treated 
equitably and fairly. The Council will neither give an advantage to, nor 
disadvantage, an applicant falling into this category.  
 

4.3.4 Management will need to sign off the assessment, and the offer for these 
applications. The assessment must be signed off by a senior officer in the 
Housing Solutions Team. An Executive Director or someone with delegated 
authority must sign off the offer before it is made.  
 

4.3.5 Full compliance with the Council’s Disclosure Policy is required, by the 
applicant and the officers involved in the approval stages. This is located on 
the website at: www.tamworth.gov.uk 

4.4 Fraud, Misrepresentation or Withholding Information 

4.4.1 Tamworth Borough Council has a duty to protect the fund it administers, and 
to this end may use the information provided for the prevention and detection 
of fraud. It may also share this information with other bodies responsible for 
auditing or administering public funds for these purposes. 

Page 53

http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 34 of 77 
 

 
4.4.2 It is a criminal offence for anyone to try and obtain accommodation from the 

Council or any other social housing provider by knowingly and recklessly 
giving a false statement or deliberately withholding information. Offences are 
prosecuted in the magistrates’ court and are punishable by a fine. 

 
4.4.3 As part of the process to prevent fraud, applications may be subject to a full 

credit checking process. By making an application for social housing an 
applicant is agreeing to this process.  There is also a declaration on the 
application form which an applicant is required to sign regarding sharing of 
information with other agencies and agreeing to the council to make all 
relevant enquiries. 
 

4.4.4 The Council will refer applications to the Corporate Fraud Officer if there is any 
reason to suspect fraud and/or deception and this may lead to prosecution. 
 

4.4.5 Applicants found guilty of such an offence will be considered ineligible for 
access to the Housing Register for a 12-month period. 
 

4.4.6 The Council or Registered Provider will also seek possession of any tenancy 
granted as a result of information later found to be false. 
 

4.4.7 Where applicants are found to have committed fraud or supplied fraudulent 
information, they will be disqualified from the housing register for a period of 
12 months. 

 

4.5 Verification and Checks 

4.5.1 Applications are subject to verification checks and will be assessed: 
• At the point of initial application 
• Following any change of circumstance notified to the Council by the 

applicant. 
• At any point during the application if the Council is notified of changes 

through other means 
• Following routine validation audits 
• Following an annual review of the application 
• At the point when an offer of accommodation is made 
• At the point of letting. 

 
4.5.2 Applications must be accompanied by uploading/supplying any supporting 

information and evidence as well as relevant proof of identification. The 
Council will be unable to process applications where such documentation has 
not been provided. Applicants will usually be contacted and given the 
opportunity to provide the information in first, before it is not processed. 
 

4.5.3 The Council will contact any current and/or former landlords in a five-year 
timeframe to check the applicant’s eligibility pursuant to the Policy the 
following checks. This applies equally to private or social landlords. 

Page 54



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 35 of 77 
 

 
 
 

4.5.4 Where applicants are privately renting and any reference request to their 
current landlord may result in them being served with a notice to leave that 
tenancy, applicants will be required to provide proof of their rent account or 
proof of rent payments for the previous 6 months, or since the start of the 
tenancy if it commenced within the last 6 months. A tenancy reference will be 
mandatory at the time an applicant is offered a property. Where applicants will 
be unable to provide this any offer may be withdrawn. 

4.6 Bedroom Entitlement 

4.6.1 The table below provides a summary of the size (and type) of property an 
applicant will be allocated. You will only be able to bid for the property size you 
have been allocated to. 
 
Property Type Household Criteria 
Bedsit / studio flat Single person 

One bed flat Single person / couple 
 

One bed 
bungalow (not 
designated 
sheltered) 

Single person or couple with mobility disabilities and a 
need for this type of accommodation (as assessed by 
an Occupational Therapist). 
Allocations will be prioritised based on those with 
assessed medical needs for this particular 
accommodation first.  Where there is nobody with an 
assessed medical need then, priority is given to those 
60 years or above, based on band and band waiting 
time. 

High rise – one 
bed flats  

Single persons or couples - at least one person must be 
50 years or above.  

High rise – two 
bed flats  
 

Couples where at least one person is 50 years or above 
who have either: 

•   An assessed need for separate bedrooms or 
•   Require an overnight carer. 

Two bed 
bungalow (not 
designated 
sheltered) 

Single person or couple with mobility disabilities and a 
need for this type of accommodation (as assessed by 
an Occupational Therapist). 
 
Allocations will be prioritised based on those with 
assessed medical needs for this particular 
accommodation first.  Where there is nobody with an 
assessed medical need then, priority is given to those 

Page 55



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 36 of 77 
 

Property Type Household Criteria 
60 years or above, based on band and band waiting 
time. 
 

Sheltered 
Housing 

Single persons or couples - at least one person must be 
55 years or above and they must have an assessed 
need for sheltered housing. 

Two bed flats; not 
high rise, 
maisonettes and 
houses. 
Three bed flats, 
maisonettes and 
houses. 
Four bed houses 
Five bed houses  
Seven bed 
houses 

Households, whose bedroom requirements are as 
indicated in section 4.6.2 

 
4.6.2 Bedroom Requirements 
 

The Council will make best use of its stock. Accommodation will normally be 
offered according to applicants’ needs and the criteria below: 
One bedroom is allowed for: 

• Every adult couple 
• Any other person aged 16 or over 
• Two children of the same gender under the age of 16 
• Two children under the age of 10 regardless of their gender 
• Any other child 
• Young carer under 16 – evidenced by medical award 
• A carer (who is not part of your household) if you or your partner need 

overnight care 
• Any other person who cannot share a bedroom because of a severe 

disability or medical condition or where there is a need for medical 
equipment for example dialysis equipment See section 4.12.1. 

 
4.6.3 A household containing a pregnant woman will be eligible for a bedroom for 

the unborn child at 20 weeks gestation if there is no other bedroom that the 
child could be expected to share. Since this would be deemed a ‘spare room’ 
prior to the child’s birth, the financial implications of accepting the offer of a 

Page 56



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 37 of 77 
 

property with a room for the unborn child will be explained to the applicant 
prior to their acceptance of the offer. They will be entitled to refuse such an 
offer. 
 

4.6.4 These household criteria largely reflect the changes made by Government to 
Welfare Benefits. This approach seeks to ensure that applicants are not 
allocated accommodation that has a ‘spare’ bedroom for benefit purposes, 
and which would be unaffordable and unsustainable as a result. 

 
4.6.5 Carers 

 
Applicants claiming bedrooms for carers will need to provide evidence 
sufficient to satisfy the Council of the caring relationship, which must include 
supporting evidence from Adult Social Care evidencing the need for overnight 
care. Even where the Council recognises a need for an overnight carer for the 
purposes of a housing need, the applicant may still need to satisfy other 
authorities of this, such as for Housing Benefit / Universal Credit payments. 

 
4.6.6 People with disabilities who cannot share 

 
Applicants will need to provide evidence sufficient to satisfy the Council of the 
need for separate bedrooms, which must include supporting evidence from 
senior medical professionals and proof they are in receipt of relevant benefits, 
e.g. personal independence payment (PiP). Awarding an additional bedroom 
will be assessed on a case-by-case basis and will involve considering not only 
the nature and severity of the disability but also the nature and frequency of 
care required during the night, and the extent and regularity of the disturbance 
to the sleep of the other person who would normally be required to share the 
bedroom.  Even where the Council recognises a need for an additional 
bedroom for the purposes of a housing need, the applicant may still need to 
satisfy other authorities of this, such as for Housing Benefit / Universal Credit 
payments. 

 
4.6.7 Fostering 

 
Approved foster carers and adopters who need to move to a larger home in 
order to accommodate a looked after child or a child who was previously 
looked after by a local authority can apply to the Council to bid for homes that 
provide an additional bed space. This provision also includes special 
guardians, holders of a residence order and family and friends’ carers who are 
not foster carers but who plan to take on the care of a child. Approval for a 
‘size over-ride’ will be considered by the Allocations Panel subject to 
supporting information being provided. 

Page 57



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 38 of 77 
 

 
4.6.8 Under Occupation 

 
The Council reserves the right to allow for the under-occupation of its homes if 
this is the best use of housing stock which will be determined by demand for 
that particular stock, whether it is an adapted property or the individual personal 
need of the applicant. This decision will be approved by a director and will be 
subject to an affordability check. 
 
Where under-occupation of a home would result in a reduction in Housing 
Benefit because there is a spare room, the implications will be discussed with 
the applicant prior to acceptance of an offer, to ensure that the applicant can 
afford to pay the rent and that the tenancy will be sustainable. 
 

4.6.9 Over Occupation 
 

Where a household requires a larger property, the type of which does not 
become available frequently, they may apply to the Council to be allowed to 
bid for properties that have one bedroom less than required under these 
eligibility criteria, provided they would not be statutorily overcrowded. This 
would not apply for bedroom entitlement where it has been awarded based on 
medical need and following receipt of medical evidence. 
 
Approval for over occupation will be required to be authorised by a manager in 
the Housing Solutions service. 
 

4.7 Property Eligibility  

4.7.1 Sheltered Housing 
 

The Council has a number of sheltered schemes across the town and 
allocations are in accordance with this policy. The applicant (or at least one of 
a couple) must be 55 years or above. 
 

• Prospective tenants will be required to have a needs and risk 
assessment before an offer is made to ensure that the property and 
support available will meet their needs.  This assessment will usually 
take place at the scheme if this is acceptable to the applicant. 
 

• Property advertisements for sheltered schemes include information on 
who can bid, and the charges payable. 
 
 
 

Page 58



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 39 of 77 
 

 
4.7.2 Properties where bidding is limited to certain households or bands. 
 

Some other properties are designed and intended for households with specific 
characteristics. These include properties that are usually allocated to older 
people, or to disabled people.  

 
• Where properties are so designated, the property advertisement will 

state which types, or bands, of applicants are eligible to bid and how 
their relative priority will be determined. 
 

• The property advertisement will also state where a Local Lettings Plan 
applies, and who is entitled to bid for the property. 

 
• Some properties, e.g. some that are in high demand, will only be open 

to bids from applicants in higher bandings, as determined by the annual 
lettings plan. This will also be stated in the property advertisement. 

 

4.8   Banding 

4.8.1 Each applicant is awarded a band based on their housing need. There are 5 
bands, with Band 1+ being the highest priority. Each of the bands is 
categorised according to need. Relative priority amongst bidders for any 
particular home is determined by the band and then the date that the 
application joined the Band, so that those that have been in a band the longest 
are given preference over those that joined the band at a later date. 

 
4.8.2 Band 1+ 

Band 1+ 
 

Applicants in the following circumstances will be placed in this highest band: 
 

• Applicants assessed as having exceptional additional housing 
need namely where a main homeless duty is owed to the 
applicant and the applicant has one further criteria in Band 1  

 
• Former members of the armed forces, as defined in section 3.3, 

who have an urgent housing need (as defined in Band 1 and 
are owed a reasonable preference). 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 59



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 40 of 77 
 

4.8.3 Band 1 

Band 1 
 

Applicants in the following circumstance will be awarded Band 1, these 
circumstance encompass reasonable preference groups. 

  
• Applicants whose current home is within the borough of Tamworth 

and which is due to be demolished or is subject to a Demolition 
Order. 
 

• Applicants assessed as statutorily homeless and owed a main duty in 
the borough of Tamworth.  

  
• The applicant’s current home is subject to a Prohibition Order served 

by Tamworth Borough Council covering a main part of the dwelling or 
is otherwise unsatisfactory or unsanitary and the defects to the 
property cannot be readily remedied following an assessment by the 
private sector housing team. 

  
• Applicants who are unable to continue to occupy their current 

accommodation due to high medical need or disability  
  

• Applicants with a high need for alternative accommodation on the 
grounds of significant social welfare. This includes applicants with a 
need to move to a particular locality where significant hardship 
would be caused if they did not move, and this banding is also 
awarded to those with a ‘right to move’ as stipulated 

  
• Applicants who are deemed by the Private Sector Housing team to be 

statutorily overcrowded, or who are overcrowded by two or more 
bedrooms according to this Policy. 

  
• Applicants who have a social housing tenancy and are under-

occupying social rented accommodation by two or more bedrooms. 
  

• Applicants awarded Incentive to Move that are presently tenants of 
Tamworth Borough Council and are prepared to move to a flat or 
bungalow, thereby making their current home available to an applicant 
that needs a house (not subject to cumulative preference). 

   
• Applicants that are presently living in supported housing and are 

required to move on. In accordance with the move on protocol, where 
specific Service Level Agreements exists or there are other specific 
arrangements, the supported accommodation provider will be 
required to confirm that the applicant has completed a support 
programme and is ready to move on. 

 
• Applicants who are a looked after child and leaving care. 

 

Page 60



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 41 of 77 
 

Band 1 
 

Applicants in the following circumstance will be awarded Band 1, these 
circumstance encompass reasonable preference groups. 

 
• Where a former Tamworth Borough Council tenant has negotiated 

and agreed tenancy surrender. 
 

• Applicants who are Tamworth Borough council tenants and have an 
urgent need to move and to make best use of stock for reasons 
where banding has not been otherwise provided for in the policy.  

 
• Applicants who have a reduced preference from Band 1+. 

 
• Applicants who were assessed as threatened with homelessness but 

through successful mediation have remained within the home for a 
minimum period of 6 months. 

 
 
 

4.8.4 Band 2 
 

 
Band 2 

  
Applicants in the following circumstances will be placed in Band 2: 

 
 

• Applicants with a medium medical need who have been 
assessed as requiring suitable alternative accommodation. 
 

• Homeless applicants owed a duty requiring the Council to help 
them secure accommodation under S189B Homeless 
Reduction Act 2017 (for as long as that duty is owed to the 
applicant) (not subject to cumulative preference). 

  
• Applicants with a medium need for alternative accommodation 

on the grounds of serious social/welfare. 
  

• Applicants who are overcrowded by one bedroom according to  
the bedroom requirement in this Policy. 
 

• Applicants who have a social housing tenancy and are under 
occupying social rented housing by one bedroom. 

  
• Applicants who are leaving or have recently left Armed Forces 

accommodation and who have not been dishonourably 
discharged. A Discharge Notice will be required. 
 

Page 61



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 42 of 77 
 

 
Band 2 

  
Applicants in the following circumstances will be placed in Band 2: 

 
• Applicants who have been verified as rough sleeping who are 

determined not to be owed the main s193 duty. 
 

• Have a reduced preference from Band 1. 
 

 

4.8.5 Band 3 
 

 
Band 3 

  
Applicants in the following circumstances will be placed in Band 3: 

 
 

• Applicants who have been assessed through the homeless 
legislation but where a main duty is not owed due to non-
priority, intentionality or refusing a suitable offer of 
accommodation. 
 

• Applicants who are threatened with homelessness and who are 
owed a duty requiring the Council to take reasonable steps to 
help them ensure that their accommodation does not cease to 
be available for their occupation owed under S195 of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (for as long as that duty is 
owed to them) (not subject to cumulative preference). 
  

• Applicants with a low medical need or a disability of such a 
nature that requires them to move. 
  

• Applicants who have a low housing need on welfare grounds. 
  

• Applicants who are single and aged 35 or over who are living in 
shared accommodation that includes sharing facilities such as 
the bathroom or kitchen with other people in unrelated 
households. 
  

• Joint applicants who are a couple and living in shared 
accommodation that includes sharing facilities such as the 
bathroom or kitchen with other people in unrelated households. 

 
• Have a reduced preference from Band 2. 

 
 

Page 62



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 43 of 77 
 

4.8.6 Band 4 
 

 
Band 4 

  
Applicants in the following circumstances will be placed in Band 4: 

 
 

• Applicants that are owed an accommodation duty under section 
193C (4) namely those applicants who have had their homeless 
duty discharged for failing to co-operate. 
 

• Applicants that have a reduced preference from Band 3. 
 

• Applicants that were referred into Supported housing temporarily 
but not yet ready for move-on in accordance with the move on 
protocol. 

 
 

4.9   Reduced Preference 

4.9.1 Reasonable preference without fulfilling local connection 
 

 Where applicants fall under a reasonable preference category but would not 
ordinarily meet the local connection requirements their band will be reduced to 
a band lower than they would be awarded if they had a local connection. 

 
4.9.2 Rent Arrears 
 

Where applicants owe housing debts to their current or a former landlord of 
£250.00 or over, or 4 weeks rebated rent their band will be reduced by one 
band below that indicated by their housing need. So, for example, applicants 
whose housing need would place them into Band 2 would be placed into Band 
3. 

 
Where the applicant owes arrears of rent that are lower than either of these 
two amounts, then their application will not be demoted but they will be 
expected to clear the arrears before being signed up for any new tenancy. 

 
The Council reserves the right not to apply reduced preference for rent arrears 
where these are directly attributable to bedroom subsidy sanctions, and there 
is a sound business case to do so. The Council's Allocations Panel must 
approve any such decision. 

 
The Council will not apply a reduced preference when an applicant has rent 
arrears but has been accepted as homeless and where they are entitled to the 
S193 housing duty. 

 

Page 63



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 44 of 77 
 

For transfer applicants the Council will expect a clear rent account before the 
tenant is allowed to move and will be required to have a property inspection to 
ensure no breaches of the tenancy agreement. 
 

4.9.3 Deliberate worsening of circumstances 
 

Where applicants have been deemed to have deliberately worsened their 
circumstances their banding will be reduced to one band lower than they 
would usually have been awarded.  
 
Examples of this could include but are not limited to: 

 
• Applicants who give up a home that they own, rent, or have rights to but 

choose to leave or dispose of it without good reason in the 5-year 
period immediately preceding the making of their application.  This 
includes ‘gifting’ a home to friends and/or relatives, both within and 
outside the UK, where they could have reasonably been expected to 
reside, or to sell it. 
 

• Applicants who have given up a social housing tenancy in the five-year 
period immediately preceding the date of their application and this was, 
not due to violence / threats of violence / harassment / anti-social 
behaviour / domestic abuse / hate crime, or any other similar danger to 
life and welfare.  This will require clear evidence that the issues had 
arisen. 

 
• Applicants who deliberately overcrowd accommodation other than 

where it is necessary to prevent homelessness. 
 

• Applicants who deliberately move to a home which was clearly 
unaffordable at the point they move into it. 

 
• Applicants who deliberately move into accommodation which will be 

overcrowded other than to prevent their homelessness and prevent the 
homelessness of their family. 

 
• Applicants who leave suitable accommodation without making suitable 

provision unless there was good reason to leave. 
 

• Applicants who deliberately deprive themselves of capital, equity or 
income following the sale of a property belonging to them whether 
jointly or in their sole name in order to qualify or gain priority for 
housing. Deliberate deprivation includes gifting money to relatives and 
friends and payments to third parties. 

 

Page 64



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 45 of 77 
 

• Where an applicant applies to the housing register and is accepted into 
a band, but subsequently makes a homeless application and is deemed 
to be intentionally homeless they will be demoted to a band lower as 
appropriate and /or applicable.  For example, an applicant may have 
been awarded medical banding when applying to the housing register 
but is then found to be intentionally homeless. Whilst they would still be 
awarded the medical banding, a reduced preference would then apply, 
and they would be placed in one band lower than they were in. 

4.10 Cumulative Preference 

We give cumulative preference to some households with more than one 
housing need as follows: 
 

• Applicant(s) meeting two or more of the categories described in Band 2 
will be promoted to Band 1. This is to recognise their exceptional and 
urgent housing need. 
 

• For cumulative preference from Band 1 to Band 1+ this would only 
apply to those awarded the full s193 housing duty and those from the 
armed forces who meet the requirements detailed and an unconnected 
characteristic in Band 1. 

 
• Some categories will be exempt from cumulative preference where they 

may be of similar reasoning to prevent any duplication of banding. 
These are detailed within the banding summary. 

4.11   Determination of an effective band date 

In order to determine the effective band date, we use the following: 

• An assessment and award of priority cannot take place without the 
supporting evidence, either at registration or when they report a change in 
circumstance, we will use the date we verify the application. 

• If there is a change of circumstances and the priority need changes and 
you go up a band, we will use the date the change was verified. 

• If there is a change of circumstances and the priority need changes and 
you go down a band, we will use the original effective band date. 

• If you are homeless, the effective band date will be the date we accepted a 
homeless duty. 

• In the unlikely event more than one applicant bids for the same property 
and they have the same effective band date, we will consider the type of 
priority awarded and the urgency of the priority to determine who will be 
allocated the property and the earlier registration date. 

Page 65



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 46 of 77 
 

4.12 Housing Need 

4.12.1 Medical Grounds 
 
The Council has three levels of medical priority that determine which band an 
application will be placed in: 
• Band 1 = High Medical Award  
• Band 2 = Medium Medical Award 
• Band 3 = Low Medical Award 
 
The assessment process requires the applicant to provide evidence from 
relevant care or medical professionals that clearly links the health concern to 
the current accommodation. The Council may seek professional medical 
advice in order to assess an applicant’s medical priority. 

 
i. High medical need 

 
Where current housing conditions are having a major adverse effect on 
the medical condition of either the applicant or a member of their 
household, the application will be placed into Band 1.  This will 
generally require evidence from a senior health practitioner or a 
consultant and be a tailored assessment clearly linking the medical 
condition with the current accommodation and making a 
recommendation as to which type of property would alleviate the 
condition. An award will be subject to approval by a senior officer in the 
housing solutions team. 
 
Examples might include: 
  

• A wheelchair user occupies a home where facilities are upstairs 
and therefore inaccessible and flatted accommodation, or a 
bungalow is recommended. 
 

• An applicant is due to be discharged from hospital and cannot be 
discharged into their current accommodation because its design 
is totally unsuitable. 

 
• A referral has been received from a consultant or other similar 

health care professional stating that their current housing is 
having a severe effect on an applicant’s (or member of their 
household’s) mental wellbeing. 

 
• An applicant or a member of their household who needs to move 

to suitable adapted accommodation because of their serious 
injury, medical condition or disability. This would be assessed by 
an Occupational Therapist.  

 

Page 66



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 47 of 77 
 

ii. Medium medical need 
 

Applicants who have been assessed as requiring suitable alternative 
accommodation because their medical condition and/ or disability is 
having a detrimental effect on their ability to live independently at home 
would be placed into Band 2. This would require evidence from medical 
practitioners who must also recommend suitable property types or the 
required characteristics for a property based on their knowledge of the 
applicant’s medical needs. 
 
Examples might include:   

• An applicant who requires a different type of accommodation or a 
different layout of accommodation including but not limited to 
someone who needs level access accommodation. 

 
iii. Low medical need 

  
Applicants whose move to suitable alternative accommodation would 
improve their health will be placed in Band 3. This is typically evidenced 
by a letter from the applicant's GP or community health services. It must 
also recommend suitable property types and/or the required 
characteristics for a property based on their knowledge of the applicant’s 
medical needs. 

 
Examples might include:  

• Someone with a degenerative condition whose needs are likely 
to occur in the future, typically within 12 months’ time. 
 

 
4.12.2 Social, Welfare and Hardship grounds 
 

The Council has three levels of social, welfare and hardship priority that 
determine which band an application will be placed in: 
• Band 1 = High Social, Welfare and Hardship Grounds 
• Band 2 = Medium Social, Welfare and Hardship Grounds 
• Band 3 = Low Social, Welfare and Hardship Grounds 
 
The Council seeks to sustain tenancies and will engage in multi-agency 
discussions to determine the best way to resolve issues. Social, hardship and 
welfare are an umbrella term that will include any discretionary issues other 
than medical. 
 

i. High Social, Welfare and Hardship need 
 
Those applicants needing to move urgently on social, hardship and/or 
welfare grounds will be placed in Band 1. Priority for this level will only 
be awarded if the current situation is so significant that it will have a 
serious impact on the wellbeing of the applicant or a member of their 
household.  

Page 67



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 48 of 77 
 

This will require supporting evidence from a third party such as a 
statutory agency (e.g. safeguarding, police, MARAC) and/or senior 
professional who are involved in the case. The Council will carry out a 
home visit if this is deemed necessary in order to verify the details 
provided by the applicant. Any award will be subject to approval by a 
senior officer within the housing solutions team. 
 
Examples might include:  

• Child/ren separated from parents (where they previously lived 
together) because the child cannot currently occupy the home of 
the parent, which prevents them living as a family unit. 
  

• Applicants with a high degree of vulnerability whose housing 
situation is having a detrimental effect on their life.  
 

• Applicants who need to move due to or to recover from the 
effects of domestic abuse, violence, emotional or sexual abuse. 
 

• People who need to move because of racial or homophobic 
abuse. 

 
• An applicant needing to move to be closer to a relative where 

either is very vulnerable, there is no alternative solution and 
where not to do so would cause significant hardship or either or 
both. 

 
• An applicant who is under witness protection, through the 

national witness mobility service and requires a move to another 
area.  

 
• Applicants who have been accepted as having a Right to Move 

scheme. See section 3.2. 
 

• An applicant needing to move to take up employment where not 
doing so would cause financial hardship. 

 
• Cases in relation to a child in need where they meet the 

following criteria:  
 
 

For this purposed of this part in accordance with the Children Act 1989 
a child shall be taken to be in need if: 
 
a. He/she is unlikely to achieve or maintain, or to have the opportunity of 

achieving or maintaining, a reasonable standard of health or 
development without the provision of rehousing. 

b. His/her health or development is likely to be significantly impaired, or 
further impaired, without the provision of rehousing. 

Page 68



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 49 of 77 
 

c. He/she is disabled. 
 

and “family”, in relation to such a child, includes any person who has 
parental responsibility for the child and any other person with whom he 
has been living.  

 
A high social need banding will be applied to the application for 
rehousing, placing the application into Band 1, where: 

• The child has been assessed by Children’s Social Care via a 
statutory assessment procedure, and 

• Children’s Social Care have clearly indicated what aspects of the 
child’s development are being hindered by their current housing 
circumstances, and 

• The Council’s safeguarding and designated officers within 
housing are satisfied that the evidence supports an urgent need 
to move. 

 
  For the purposes of this assessment the household to be considered is 

that which has care and control of the child for the majority of the time. 
 
 

 
ii. Medium Social, Welfare and Hardship need 

 
Applicants who have a medium housing need on welfare grounds will 
be placed in Band 2; this would require third party supporting evidence 
from (local support team, social workers etc.). 

 
Examples might include:  
• Applicants who need to move as part of an agreed support plan to 

re-integrate them into the community. 
 

• Lower level and regular police involvement 
 

 
iii. Low Social, Welfare and Hardship Grounds 

  
Applicants who have a low housing need on welfare grounds will be 
placed in Band 3. This would require third party evidence from support 
workers or equivalent. 

 
Examples might include: 

• Applicants with limited access arrangement to their children for 
example living in a property where children cannot visit. 
 

• Applicants who are privately renting and who are struggling 
financially.  This will be assessed on a case-by-case basis and 
subject to supporting evidence being provided, for example in 
the form of an income/expenditure check undertaken through the 

Page 69



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 50 of 77 
 

Citizens Advice Bureau.  This will only be awarded where the 
applicant's needs are not due to lifestyle choices that the 
applicant has made.  The Council reserves the right to refer the 
application to its debt advice provider for such confirmation. 

 
• In order to provide a secure base from which a Staffordshire 

County Council care leaver can build a stable life. This is for care 
leavers up to the age of 25, who are still in receipt of support 
from their personal advisor. Tamworth will require evidence from 
their personal advisor supporting their onward move and 
confirmation of their care leaver status. 
 

• Applicants who have a local connection to Tamworth (in 
accordance with section 3.7.2) and have been placed out of the 
area by the authority in order to discharge a homelessness duty 
but would benefit from returning to Tamworth to access wider 
support networks.  Applicants will need to provide evidence to 
support this criterion including evidence to show support needs 
or dependency and evidence to support their local connection. 
 
 

4.12.3 Overcrowding 
 
For households that are living in overcrowded accommodation, banding is 
awarded on a tiered approach, as follows: 
 
Band 1 =  awarded to applicants who are deemed by the Private Sector 

Housing Team to be statutorily overcrowded, or who are 
overcrowded by two or more bedrooms according to this policy. 

 
Band 2 =  awarded to applicants who are overcrowded by one bedroom. 
 

i. Provided the applicant is not considered to be statutorily overcrowded, 
overcrowding banding awarded by the Policy will only be awarded 
where applicants are considered to be in settled accommodation. This 
is typically secure, and medium to long term housing where there is a 
right of occupation.  This would usually be where they own or rent their 
home or where they have lived with family for more than 6 months. 
 

ii. The reasons why the applicant became overcrowded, whether the 
applicant is able to afford a larger home and whether the space within 
the dwelling is being used effectively will be taken into account. 

 
iii. Evidence will be required to support the overcrowding. 

 
iv. Overcrowding assessments will only take into account people who live 

permanently within the home. 
 

Page 70



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 51 of 77 
 

v. Home visits may be undertaken by the Council to verify the information 
provided. 

 
vi. The Council retains the right to remove banding on this basis should the 

overcrowding not be evidenced, or circumstances alter and lead to the 
overcrowding situation being resolved.  
 

4.12.4 Move on from Supported Housing 
 
The Council works in partnership with a number of agencies that support move-
on arrangements from hostels, supporting people funded accommodation and/or 
other specialist accommodation. 

 
i. Applicants moving on from short term accommodation (being of up to 2 

years duration) who are capable of independent living (with or without 
care and support plans) will be placed into Band 1, provided there is 
evidence from the support provider to confirm that they have been 
resident for a period of at least 6 months and 

 
• Their rehousing requirements constitute a high social and/or 

medical need and an appropriate move on package is in place or 
• Rehousing will free up a place for a vulnerable person in 

supported housing. 
 

iv. If applicants fail to bid, then the Council will make bids on their behalf. If 
applicants are not satisfied with any resulting offer of accommodation, 
then they can request a review of the suitability of the offer. 
 

v. Applicants in this category will receive one offer of suitable housing 
only. If applicants refuse a move on offer of accommodation a reduced 
preference will be applied. 

 
vi. In accordance with the Move on protocol adopted by the Council when a 

resident is ready to live independently and move on from the supported 
accommodation, the support accommodation provider will need to complete 
a ‘ready to move on’ form before banding will be awarded. The move on 
protocol will be attached as appendix to this policy which contains the form 
which is required for completion. 

 
vii. Where the applicant still has support needs the supported accommodation 

provider must continue to supply these for a period of 6 weeks following the 
date on which the applicant is re-housed. 
 

4.12.5 Under-occupation 
 

For households that are under occupying social housing, banding is an 
awarded on a tiered approach as follows: 

Page 71



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 52 of 77 
 

Band 1 =  awarded to applicants who are deemed to be under occupying 
by two or more bedrooms according to the bedroom standard in 
this policy. 

Band 2 =  awarded to applicants who are deemed to be under occupying 
by one bedroom according to the bedroom standard in this 
policy. 

 
i. Banding for under-occupation will only apply to those who are 

permanently occupying a property as their main and principal home and 
have a social housing tenancy. 
 

ii. Evidence may be required to support this such as evidence of a social 
housing tenancy and confirmation from the applicant's social landlord 
that the applicant is in fact under occupying. 

 
iii. Where the Council is unable to verify these circumstances, the Council 

retains the right to remove banding on this basis. 
 

4.12.6 Incentive to Move scheme  
 

The incentive to move scheme is a landlord’s discretionary scheme and 
subject to budgetary provision. In making best use of stock the Council uses 
its Incentive to Move scheme to encourage people to move out of under-
occupied properties. The policy enables a payment to be made towards 
moves from: 
 
• Houses to flats or bungalows 
• Adapted properties to non-adapted properties (where a suitable match 

has been made for the adapted property) 
• Chain lets; namely where a household releases a unit resulting in two or 

more subsequent moves for other households on the housing register.  
 

i. Where someone has moved and received an incentive payment, they 
should expect to stay in that property for 3 years before making an 
application to transfer home again. 
 

ii. The payment will be recovered from tenants that move within 3 years 
unless there is an exceptional circumstance which include but are 
limited to: 

• Moving into residential care or long-term hospice 
• Death 
• Moving in with relatives 

 
iii. The terms of the Incentive to Move scheme are subject to review and 

set out in the Guide which will be attached as appendix to this scheme. 
 

iv. Where an applicant has arrears which would ordinarily mean that they 
would be subject to a reduced preference, the Council reserves the 

Page 72



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 53 of 77 
 

right not to apply the reduced preference as long as any payment 
awarded for the incentive to move clears the arrears. Where the arrears 
exceed the amount of the incentive to move payment the reduced 
preference will still apply. 

 

4.12.7 Unsanitary or otherwise unsatisfactory housing 
 

The law states that a council is required to give reasonable preference to 
those living in unsanitary or otherwise unsatisfactory housing. 

 
i. We will award Band 1 to applicants living in unsanitary or unsatisfactory 

housing where there is at least one verified Category 1 hazard that 
cannot be resolved by the landlord within six months and where the 
condition of the accommodation has at least an on-going moderate 
effect on the applicant’s health or a member of their household. 

 
 

ii. We will award Band 1 to applicants living in properties where the 
landlord has been served with a prohibition order covering a main part 
of the dwelling, or where the applicant’s property has been included 
within a clearance area or has a lack of facilities (as specified in 11.46 
below). This would include situations where the condition of the 
property occupied is seriously detrimental to the health of any of the 
household and the defects in the property cannot be easily remedied 
following an assessment by the private sector housing team within 6 
months. 

 
iii. The following will be considered to constitute a lack of facilities namely 

where an applicant does not have access at all to any of the following 
facilities: 

• Bathroom or kitchen 
• An inside WC 
• Hot or cold-water supplies 
• Adequate heating  

 
iv. Where conditions have been deemed to have been caused as a result 

of an applicant’s behaviour or lifestyle banding would not be awarded.  
This would include where an applicant has refused to allow the issues 
to be remedied. 
 
 

4.12.8 Decanting social housing tenants for major repairs 
 
Where the applicant lives in a Tamworth Borough Council property, the 
Council will seek to deal with any repairs before it considers moving them. 
However, where major works are required, the tenant may need to move out 
in order for these to take place. Any letting made will be on the basis that it is 

Page 73



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 54 of 77 
 

a temporary move (a decant) and the tenant will be able to return to their 
original home once the works have been completed. 

 
i. These tenants will therefore be offered a licence agreement to occupy 

the temporary home, as their substantive and principal dwelling will 
remain their tenancy. 

 
ii. Decants to allow major repairs to private sector housing will be 

managed in accordance with the Housing Act 2004 and/or other 
relevant legislation or statutory instruments. Where issues of disrepair 
are so significant that an Emergency Prohibition Order is necessitated, 
the occupier(s) of the dwelling will qualify for Band 1 status from the 
date of the Order. 

 

  

Page 74



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 55 of 77 
 

4.12.9 Best use of stock or tenants with an urgent need to move 
 

In order to make the best use of stock and if by moving a Council tenant hardship 
to them will be avoided, the Council can award priority banding Band 1. 

 
i. This will only be awarded in exceptional circumstances and where 

banding has not otherwise been awarded through the Policy for the 
same circumstance. 
 

ii. Applicants are not automatically entitled to this banding and cases will 
be assessed on a case-by-case basis.  Awards of this nature will also 
have to be supported by evidence and any award of banding will have 
to be agreed by a manager or review officer in the housing solutions 
service.  

 
iii. Cases which may fall in this category could include but are not limited to 

the following: 
• Tenants who are enduring significant financial hardship where 

they are engaged and working with the tenancy sustainment 
team and all other options have been considered, and by moving 
to a smaller property would alleviate hardship but where they are 
not eligible for an incentive to move payment. 
 

• Where there has already been a succession from one spouse to 
another but an adult child who has lived in the property all of his 
life is living in the property 

 
iv. Applicants awarded the priority will only be entitled to one offer of 

suitable accommodation. 
 

v. Where an applicant is not bidding for all available and suitable 
properties the Council retails the right for an officer to make proxy bids 
on their behalf to suitable properties. 
 

vi. A suitability of accommodation assessment would be completed as part 
of the band award to ensure the one offer would meet their housing 
need. 

 
vii. If applicants are offered a suitable property and refuse it, the banding 

for this priority will be removed.  The applicant would be entitled to a 
review of suitability. 

  

Page 75



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 56 of 77 
 

4.12.10 Move-On from Care (Staffordshire County Council) 
 

A care leaver or ‘looked after child’ (LAC) of Staffordshire County Council will 
be awarded high priority to move within this Policy if they are ready to move 
into independent settled housing provided, they satisfy certain criteria (see 
below) and in order to try and prevent homelessness. The care leaver will be 
awarded Band 1. 
 

i. A care leaver from Staffordshire County Council will be eligible to join 
the housing register and be in Band 1 6months prior to their 18th 
Birthday. 

 
ii. Where a suitable property is identified before their 18th as they are 

unable to hold their own tenancy, any tenancy would be held in trust 
until their 18th Birthday. 

 
iii. A supporting letter will be necessary from Staffordshire County Council 

confirming their status and that they are ready and prepared to move on 
to independent settled housing, (which may be in the social or private 
sector), and the care leaver: 

• possesses the life skills necessary to sustain a tenancy, and 
• has been assessed for a support package, and one is in place. 

 
4.12.11 Homeless Households 
 

Where applicants are homeless and have also applied to join the housing 
register, they will not be disadvantaged. 
 

i. Where applicants have made a homeless application but are still 
considered to be entitled to banding under another reasonable 
preference category they will still be entitled to their normal banding 
until there has been a change of circumstance which mean the banding 
is otherwise no longer applicable, for example overcrowding or medical 
banding associated to a property which they have moved away from. 

 
ii. Due to the Homeless Reduction Act 2017 the Council has framed this 

policy in order to aid the Council in preventing homelessness and 
discharging its duty. 

 
iii. Homeless households will be awarding banding on a tiered approach 

depending on what homeless duty may be owed to them and this is 
covered in further detail below.  

 
Accepted statutory homeless households. 
 
Households to whom the Council has accepted a main housing 
duty under Part 7 of the Housing Act (as amended) are entitled to 
one offer of suitable accommodation. 

Page 76



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 57 of 77 
 

 
a. Applicants are able to bid for advertised properties. 

 
b. Within the provisions set out in the Localism Act 2011, they may also 

be considered for an offer of suitable private rented accommodation 
in line with the Council’s Discharge of Duty into the Private Rented 
Sector Policy (which can be found on the Council’s website). 

 
c. All bids will be monitored by the Council and if an applicant does 

not bid on suitable properties an officer of the Council will make 
suitable proxy bids on their behalf. If applicants are not satisfied 
with any resulting offer of accommodation, then they can request 
a statutory review under s202 of the Housing Act 1996, or 
appeal to the County Court under S204 of the Housing Act 1996. 
See section 6.3.4. 

 
d. If the offer is deemed to be suitable but the applicant refuses the 

offer, the Council may discharge its duty to the applicant and 
their priority for housing will be reassessed in line with this 
Allocations Policy. Applicants will also have a right to a review of 
the decision to the discharge of duty under s202 and s204 of the 
Housing Act 1996. See section 6.3.4. 

 
Households which are homeless but where the main housing duty is 
not owed. 

 
a. Applicants that are owed a duty requiring the Council to help 

them secure accommodation under s189B of the Homeless 
Reduction Act 2017 will be placed into Band 2 for as long as that 
duty is owed to the applicant.  This banding is not subject to 
cumulative preference. 

 
b. Applicants that are owed a duty requiring the Council to take 

reasonable steps to help applicants ensure that their 
accommodation does not cease to be available for their 
occupation under s195 of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
will be placed into Band 3 for as long as that duty is owed to the 
applicant.  This banding is not subject to cumulative preference. 

 
c. Applicants who have been assessed through the homeless 

legislation but where a full duty is not owed due to a finding that 
they are not in priority need, they are intentionally homeless or 
they have refused a suitable offer of accommodation will be 
placed into Band 3 until there has been a change in their 
circumstances or where in the case of intentionality, there been 
an occurrence which breaks the chain of causation in this 
respect. 

 

Page 77



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 58 of 77 
 

d. Applicants who are owed an accommodation duty under section 
193C (4) of the Housing Act 1996 namely applicants who have 
had their homeless duty discharged for failing to co-operate. 

 

4.13 Gypsies and Travellers 

Tamworth does not currently have a travellers’ site. The policy will be 
amended should this position change. 
 

4.14 Notification of your assessment 

Once an application is assessed, it is entered onto the Housing Register. The 
Housing Register is held on the Council’s Housing IT System. Once an 
application has been registered, the applicant will be sent written confirmation 
of their assessment, including their registration number and date given for 
their housing priority is award, the band they have been assessed for, and 
which types of properties they can bid for. The letter will also confirm how to 
register and bid for properties.  
 

4.15 Change of circumstances 

4.15.1 Once registered it is the applicant’s responsibility to inform the Council of any 
change in their circumstances that affects their application such as contact 
details, changes in household members, eligibility, qualification and/or priority 
or banding for housing.  

Examples could include but are not limited to: 

• A change of address, for themselves or any other person on the 
application. 

• Any changes in the household of where the applicant lives or in the 
household included on the application. 

• Any change in income and/or savings of the applicant. 
• If the applicant becomes a property owner. 
• Any medical/welfare or mobility needs which will affect the type of 

accommodation required by the applicant 
• Any changes to the immigration status of the applicant. 

 
4.15.2 Following a change in circumstance the application will be reassessed and 

may result in a change in priority band or bedroom/property eligibility. The 
applicant will be informed in writing of the outcome of their reassessment. 

Page 78



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 59 of 77 
 

4.15.3 Failure to notify the Council may result in the withholding of an offer of 
accommodation whilst the application is investigated or withdrawal of an offer 
whilst the application is reassessed.  

4.15.4 The Council carries out an automated review of the Housing Register, and 
failure to respond to any contact made as a result of such a review will also 
result in the application being cancelled. Further details of the annual review 
are set out here. See section 6.3 
 

4.16 Cancellation of Applications 

4.16.1 Applications will be cancelled from the housing register in the following 
circumstances: 
 

• A written request has been received to do so from the applicant/s 
• There is no reply to the annual review, 
• The applicant has been rehoused through the housing register, by 

being nominated to a Registered Provider or by a mutual exchange. 
• The applicant has become disqualified  
• The applicant has not placed any bids on properties within a year 
• The applicant has refused 3 suitable offers of accommodation within a 

12-month period. 
 
 

4.16.2 The Council reserves the right to cancel an application where 3 offers of 
suitable accommodation have been refused by the applicant within a 12-
month period.  There is a subsequent right to a review of this decision which 
would be conducted by an officer not involved in any initial decision.   An 
application will not be cancelled until applicants have refused 3 offers of 
suitable properties made since this policy was implemented. 
 

4.16.3 Applicants will only have their application cancelled where they have failed to 
make bids on properties within a 12-month period since this policy was 
implemented. 
 

4.16.4 Where any application has been cancelled, there will be a right to a review of 
this decision and the process to be followed in this respect is set out in section 
6.3 
 

4.16.5 All applicants will be given a period of 21 days from the date of the Council's 
notification of its intention to cancel the application for the applicant to submit 
a review request and to provide the evidence necessary in this respect. 
 

4.16.6 Where an application has been cancelled as a result of the applicant's failure 
to bid, applicants will not be able to re-join the housing register for a 3-month 
period unless there has been a significant change in the applicant's 
circumstances. 

  

Page 79



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 60 of 77 
 

5 Allocations and Lettings 

5.1 Direct Lets 

5.1.1 By way of exception to the choice-based lettings there will be some direct lets, 
often referred to as management moves, direct offers or direct lets. These will 
occur where: 

 
• The letting is sensitive, and it should not be advertised either due to the 

property or the person, e.g. MARAC (Multi-Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference) referrals. See section 5.3. 
 

• An offer of accommodation to an applicant on a witness protection 
programme. See section 3.6. 

 
• An adapted property is identified by an Occupational Therapist as a 

suitable match for someone on the adaptations waiting list with 
requiring the need for significant or multiple adaptions.  The 
requirement alone for a level access shower would not suffice due to 
them usually being more readily available and a lot of people requiring 
them on the housing register. 

 
• The property is to be used as a decant or temporary accommodation. 

 
5.1.2 A direct let is simply an offer made direct to an applicant without the property 

being advertised and will only be made in accordance with the criteria set out 
above. Allocations of this nature will be kept to a minimum to maintain a fair 
and transparent allocation policy, with the majority of applications being made 
to applicants that fall within the reasonable preference categories as set out in 
s167(2) of the Housing Act 1996 as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002. 
 

5.1.3 Where an applicant refuses a direct match no further direct matches would be 
considered but would otherwise be entitled to remain on the housing register 
should they otherwise comply with the criteria of the policy and assessed 
under the same criteria. 
 

5.2 Choice Based Lettings 

Tamworth operates a choice based letting scheme (CBL). The majority of 
properties in the borough are let via CBL. The onus is on the applicant to 
actively bid for suitable properties. 

  

Page 80



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 61 of 77 
 

 

5.2.1 Advertising a property 

Tamworth works with registered providers to advertise properties online. All of 
the information submitted, including details regarding the number of 
bedrooms, property type, available facilities, timescales and adaptations, is 
provided by the social landlord. Whilst we will do all that we can to ensure that 
the information provided is correct Tamworth does not accept responsibility for 
any inaccurate information supplied another landlord or is not known at the 
point of placing the advert. 
 
Properties will be advertised online during the bidding cycle. Details of when 
the bidding cycle starts and ends can be found on the website. 
 

5.2.2 Targeted adverts 

Some adverts may be targeted. It may state that preference will be given to 
people of a certain age, for example, if the property is categorised as 
sheltered or that preference will be given to those with a disability, for 
example, if the property is adapted or suitable for adaptations. This may mean 
when we shortlist, that someone from a lower band may be selected for an 
offer because they meet the criteria. 
 

5.2.3 Withdrawing a property 

In exceptional circumstances we may have to withdraw a property that has 
been incorrectly advertised. We may also withdraw a property in order to 
make an urgent direct offer for a priority household at any point provided it has 
not yet been offered. 
 

5.2.4 Bidding 
 

i. Number of bids 
 
You will be able to place up to 3 bids during each bidding cycle. It is 
essential that you bid each week in order to increase your chance of 
moving as quickly as possible. However, even if you bid each week, 
you may still experience a lengthy wait particularly if you do not place 
sensible bids. Social housing stock is very limited and, in some areas, 
very few or no homes become available. If you have very specific 
preferences regarding the type or location of your home, you may find 
that it is easier to secure a move via the private rented sector or 
through another housing option such as shared ownership. See section 
2. 
 

Page 81



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 62 of 77 
 

ii. Number of bedrooms 
 
You will normally only be able to bid on the size of property that we 
have assessed as meeting your requirements under this policy. 
Occasionally though there may some exceptions to this, such as if you 
require a 4-bedroom home or larger you will normally be able to place a 
bid on a property that is one bedroom smaller than you are assessed 
as needing, as long as your household does not exceed the maximum 
number of persons permitted within the home. This is called over 
occupation See section 4.6.9. 
 

iii. Assisted bidding 
 
Where someone is vulnerable or needs additional help placing bids to 
ensure the property is suitable for their needs, you will receive 
assistance from the Housing Solutions Team. This is because we 
recognise that it is important to manage the process to get the best 
result for you when bidding for a suitable property, especially when 
assisting homeless households. 
 

iv. Grouped bids 
 
We will use a single advert for identical properties. Where there are 
grouped advertisements, applicants who place one bid will be 
considered for all properties within the group. 
 

v. Withdrawing your bid 
 
When you have placed a bid, you will be able to withdraw it, whilst the 
bidding cycle is open. You will not be able to withdraw a bid after the 
bidding cycle has closed. Any such bid will be treated formally in 
accordance with the guidance set out within this policy. If we assist you 
with bidding, you will not be able to withdraw your bid. 
 

vi. Failure to bid 
 
Applicants who refuse to bid, may be disqualified. We will contact you 
first to assess whether you need further information or support. If you 
need assistance. See section 5.2.4. iv. 
 

5.2.5 Shortlisting 

i. Closing date 
 
Each bidding cycle opens at 12:01 on a Wednesday and closes the 
following Monday at midnight. Between these times you are able to 
place a maximum of 3 bids on properties in which you meet the advert 
criteria for. You can withdraw any bids made, provided the withdrawal 
happens before midnight on the Monday. Anything after this deadline 
cannot be removed or amended. When the bidding cycle closes a 

Page 82



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 63 of 77 
 

shortlist of the top bidders is prepared and we will automatically take 
into consideration any recent changes to your application if these have 
taken place since the bidding closed. 
 

ii. Bypassing a bid 
 
Your bid may be bypassed if: 

• Your circumstances do not match the criteria outlined in the 
property advert. 

• You have already been successfully shortlisted for another 
property. 

• There are public protection concerns. 
• You, or a member of your household, are involved in anti-social 

behaviour. 
• It is identified that you require an adapted home, and we are 

notified by the social landlord that the property cannot be 
sufficiently adapted. 

• You have rent arrears and are not keeping to an agreed 
payment plan. 

In the case of rent arrears, applicants who are not already disqualified, 
will be permitted to bid, however where the arrears exceed £250, a 
reduced preference will be applied. Where no reduced preference has 
been applied, and the arrears are below £250, the applicants may bid 
provided they have a clear rent account at the point of offer. 

 
5.2.6 Successful bidders 

i. You can only be shortlisted in first place for one property at a time, all 
subsequent bids will be bypassed, whilst the first bid is resolved. If we 
feel there are exceptional reasons, we may allow you to be shortlisted 
for more than one first bid. 

 
ii. Each registered provider follows their own viewing, offer and sign-up 

process. Some will invite you to view the property first, whilst others 
may arrange a home visit or request that you attend a meeting at their 
offices prior to allowing you to view a property. You will be contacted 
either by phone, email or in writing. You will be advised of what 
information you will need to take with you to any meetings or viewings. 

 

5.2.7 Unsuccessful bidders 

You will not be contacted if your bid is not shortlisted. You will be able to bid 
during the next bidding cycle as normal. 
 

Page 83



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 64 of 77 
 

5.2.8 Rejection by a Registered Provider 

i. If your bid is rejected by a registered provider or you were nominated 
and then rejected, they must notify us of their reasons before offering 
the property to another bidder. If Tamworth is satisfied that the reasons 
are acceptable in accordance with this policy and nominations 
agreement, the decision will stand, and you will be notified of the 
outcome. 

 
ii. If we believe the registered provider has been unreasonable, we will 

ask them to review their decision and allow your bid to proceed. We will 
attempt to resolve all areas of dispute with them and take the relevant 
steps, where this is not possible. 

 

5.3 Sensitive lets 

Sensitive lets are rare and likely to be due to two main reasons: 
 

i. Where a household requires careful placement for their safety or the 
safety of others, we may need to consider where we place in order to 
minimise any risks. 

ii. Where a property has a management history which requires the careful 
selection of the next tenant to ensure harmony in the area where it is 
located. In these cases, we may target the advert and select only the 
most suitable applicants. 
 

Tamworth will consider a sensitive let at our discretion and should this be 
agreed, our decision is final. 
 

5.4 Hard to lets 

Some properties are harder to let because they are less attractive to 
applicants who will either refuse them or fail to bid for them. This could be a 
number of reasons including, location, floor level, age, condition. On the rare 
occasions where Tamworth is unsuccessful in letting a property, it will be 
deemed hard to let, and may be made available to a wider pool of people on 
the Housing Register. It may also be advertised as a property available to 
people who are not on the Housing Register. Priority will be given to social 
tenants within the borough who would not otherwise have priority. Tamworth 
will ensure all the usual checks and verification take place at the point of 
letting. 
 
 
 

Page 84



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 65 of 77 
 

5.5 Reciprocal arrangements 

Tamworth may consider a reciprocal arrangement with another social landlord, 
only where there is a household that it cannot assist within the borough. 
Another authority may be approached, and should they agree, then Tamworth 
will give them the resulting empty property or properties of equivalent size. 
These occasions are rare and will need a director’s approval or someone who 
has delegated authority. 

5.6 Offer of accommodation 

An offer of accommodation must be deemed suitable. This will take into 
consideration: 

• Household type and size 
• Rent and service charges (pull AR calculation example) 
• Property type, size and condition 
• Medical need 
• Area in relation to employment and education 
• Affordability checks. See section 5.8. 

 
5.6.1 An offer is made in writing (often sent by email) containing all the details of the 

property. If you view before an offer is made an offer letter will be sent after 
the viewing. It will be subject to a clear rent account or where the applicant is 
reducing the debt in line with a repayment arrangement. 
 

5.7 Limited Offers 

The council operates a three-offer policy, with the exception of homeless 
applicants, move on applicants and those allocated a priority for best use of 
stock, where the number of suitable offers is restricted to a single offer. In 
exceptional circumstances, a further offer may be considered. 
 

5.8 Affordability 

5.8.1 All successful bids will be screened for affordability. 
 

5.8.2 Where an applicant applies to the housing register and they have nil income, 
the Housing Solutions Service will refer the applicant to the Council's debt 
advice service for further advice on income maximisation. 
 

5.8.3 All applicants must be able to show that they are working and have sufficient 
income to pay their rent or that they are in receipt of appropriate benefits in 
order to afford the total amount payable for their property i.e. rent and 
additional costs such as service charges. 
 
 

Page 85



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 66 of 77 
 

5.8.4 Tamworth Borough Council has a duty to protect the public fund it administers.  
Therefore, where an applicant is unable to demonstrate that they will be able 
to afford any offer of accommodation made to them, the Council retains the 
right to withdraw the offer. 

5.9   Refusals 

5.9.1 The following are considered refusals: 
• You fail to respond to an offer of accommodation. 
• You fail to attend a viewing. 
• You fail to attend an interview with a registered provider 
• You fail to provide the information requested by a registered provider. 
• You are offered a property, and you decline it. 

 
 

5.9.2 The consequences of refusing an offer of accommodation will depend on the 
circumstances in which the offer is made. 
 

a. It is important for a homeless household to understand that the refusal 
of a suitable offer of accommodation is highly likely to result in 
cessation of the homeless duty, the potential loss of any temporary 
accommodation, and a change to their entry under this policy. See 
sections 4.12.11 and 6.3.4 respectively. 
 

b. For all other applicants, three refusals may result in disqualification, 
reduced priority or removal from the Housing Register. 

 

5.10 Tenancy Determination 

5.10.1 The tenancy management policy determines the type of tenancy offered by a 
social landlord. Each social landlord has their own tenancy management policy. It 
is the applicant’s responsibility to familiarise themselves with the tenancy 
management policy of the social landlord they have been nominated to. 
 
Applicants who have been offered council accommodation should refer to the 
Council’s tenancy management policy which is located on the website. In 
summary: 
 

• Sheltered, high rise and 1-bedroom properties are offered a secure 
tenancy. 

• All other properties are offered a 5year flexible fixed term tenancy. 
 
 

Page 86



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 67 of 77 
 

5.11 Tenancy Sustainment 

We want people to be live happily in their homes and recognise that some people 
need more support to do this. As a Council we promote the following with the 
landlords that we work with: 
 

• Signposting the applicant to the right team when they approach us for 
rehousing. 

• Considering the support need, both immediately and longer – term when 
allocating a home. 

• Assessing the applicants housing priority correctly. 
• If the tenancy is failing, we will work with the tenant and their landlord to 

prevent them from becoming homeless. 
• Maximising the household’s income to promote affordability. 

 

5.12 Lettings Plans 

5.12.1 Annual Lettings Plan 
 

a. The Council retains the right to develop a Lettings Plan based on an 
estimate of the number and type of properties that are anticipated to be 
available for letting. This plan could include specific opportunities for 
bidding, which may include limiting bidding for homes in higher demand 
to those in higher bands. 
 

b. Should an annual lettings plan be developed this would be included as 
an appendix and published at: www.findingahometamworth.co.uk 

 

5.12.2 Local Lettings Plan 
 

a. The Housing Act 1996 allows the Council to allocate particular 
accommodation to people of a particular description, whether or not 
they fall within the reasonable preference categories, provided that 
overall, the Council demonstrates compliance with the Housing Act 
1996. 

 
b. The Council may at times use local lettings plans to allocate a property 

and facilitate sustainable communities. Factors that may prompt these 
include: 

• Particular management problems identified in an area. 
• Allocation of a new or refurbished development to ensure the 

creation of a balanced and sustainable community, for example 
consideration of child density levels. 

• Planning requirements (also known as section 106 conditions) 
• Assistance with the wider strategic objectives of the Council, for 

example to remedy under-occupation of existing social rented 
homes. 

Page 87

http://www.findingahometamworth.co.uk/


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 68 of 77 
 

 
c. Any local lettings plan, subject to member approval, will be published 

and appended to this policy. 
 

d. Annual impact assessments will be undertaken of local lettings plans, 
allowing for detailed consultation, review and monitoring of each as 
appropriate and enabling the Council to respond to a changing social 
and economic climate. 

 

  

Page 88



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 69 of 77 
 

6 Decisions, Complaints and Reviews  

6.1 Decisions 

6.1.1 When we process an application, we will have to make a number of key 
decisions such as: 
• The decision that confirms or denies your eligibility to join the housing 

register. 
• The decision that confirms or denies whether you qualify.  
• The decision that awards your housing need (band). 
• The decision to reassess your application as reduced preference or treat it 

under exceptional or mitigating circumstances. 
• The decision to reassess your priority following a change of circumstance. 
• The decision to cancel or disqualification your application. 
• The decision following a submission of a right of review by you. 
• The decision that deems your refusal of a property as unreasonable or that 

you cannot afford a property. 
 

6.1.2 When contacting you with a decision we will: 
i. We will make decisions with reference to the relevant legislation and 

our statutory duties.  
ii. We will consider all relevant evidence before making a decision.  
iii. We will not take irrelevant matters into consideration when making a 

decision. 
iv. We will make every effort to ensure our decisions are reasonable, 

exercising discretion if the situation warrants it. 
v. All decisions will be made with due regard to this policy. 
vi. We will state the reasons for our decision and a full record will be kept. 

It will be fair and transparent. 
 

6.1.3 It is important to understand the following: 
✓ If you provide evidence that you did not provide for your original 

assessment. This is a change in circumstance. 
✓ If you think we failed to deliver the service properly. This is a 

complaint. 
✓ If you disagree with a homeless decision under Part 7 of the legislation. 

This is a s202 statutory right of review. 
✓ If you disagree with your priority award under Part 6 of the legislation or 

the decision to place you in reduced preference. This is a statutory 
right of review. 

✓ If we ask for information or review your application following a refusal or 
failure to view. This is an application review.  

Page 89



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 70 of 77 
 

6.2 Complaints, Compliments and Comments 

If there are any complaints, compliments or comments about this process, 
applicants are encouraged to use the Council’s Comments, Compliments & 
Complaints policy.  Details of the scheme which includes the Council's formal 
complaints procedure and the ‘Tell Us’ Policy can be found on the Council's 
website www.tamworth.gov.uk. 
 

6.3 Reviews 

6.3.1 There are several types of review within the policy: 
• Band 1 and Band 1+ review (Priority Card) 
• Annual Review 
• Disqualification Review 
• Homelessness Suitability Review 
• Statutory Right of Review 
• External Review 

 

6.3.1 Band 1 and Band 1+ review (Priority Card) 

i. It is expected that all applications awarded Band 1 or Band 1+ have the 
most need to move and need to move quickly, therefore all applicants 
placed into Band 1+ and Band 1 will be subject to a 2-month initial time 
limit.  
 

ii. At the end of the initial 2 months, subject to a satisfactory review, the 
band 1/band 1+ status can be extended by a further 2 months, by 
which time there is an expectation that the applicant’s housing needs 
would have been met.  
 

iii. Where an applicant does not bid or refuses 3 suitable offers of 
accommodation within this timeframe an application may forfeit their 
Band 1 status. If it is determined that the applicant should indeed forfeit 
their Band 1/1+ status, a reduced preference will be applied which will 
place them in Band 2, unless it is a homeless offer in which case 
different rules apply.   
 

iv. An applicant is entitled to review of the removal of the Band 1 status, 
and this would be conducted by a more senior officer not involved in the 
original decision or the allocation panel. 
 

v. Applicants will have 21 days in order to submit a review following a 
decision to demote the banding or following a refusal of 
accommodation by them. 
 

Page 90

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/comments-compliments-complaints
http://www.tamworth.gov.uk/


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 71 of 77 
 

vi. Applicants awarded Band 1 through homeless, move on or best use of 
stock are only entitled to one offer of suitable accommodation. 
 

vii. Should following the review it be deemed there has been insufficient or 
suitable properties the applicants banding awarded would remain and 
will be reviewed every 2months until the banding can be discharged. 
 

viii. All applications in these top bands will be assigned an officer to ensure 
bids are being placed and where bids are not being made proxy bids 
may be made on available properties. 
 

ix. The review will ensure that housing staff are monitoring and supporting 
applicants in bidding or identifying other housing options.  
 

x. This review does not apply to households accepted as statutorily 
homeless as they are processed differently and subject to different 
rules. 
 

xi. All applicants who are placed in these priority bands will require a 
suitability of accommodation assessment completed when they are 
placed in these bands.  This will help identify which properties in which 
areas may or may not be suitable and will assist the officer assigned to 
their case when making proxy bids (if applicable).  Any proxy bids made 
should be in line with this suitability assessment. 

 
 

6.3.2 Annual Review 

i. In order to maintain a Housing Register which accurately reflects 
current housing need, applicants will be required to respond to a review 
of their application at least once per year. This review process involves 
confirming whether any changes in circumstances need to be reported 
and if they want to remain on the register. 
 

ii. If an applicant fails to respond to the review letter within the allocated 
time of 28 days from the date of the letter and they have not been 
actively bidding, their application will be cancelled and removed. The 
applicant will then need to register a new application and be 
reassessed with a new band and priority date, should they still have a 
housing need. 

 
iii. Cancelled applications will only be reinstated in exceptional 

circumstances at the discretion of the Housing Solutions Manager 
provided the request is received within 6 weeks and provided there 
were strong grounds for not responding, e.g. the applicant was in 
hospital and appropriate evidence is provided. 

 
 
 

Page 91



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 72 of 77 
 

iv. Where the Council identifies that an applicant has special requirements 
such as in terms of how the Council communicates with them, the 
Housing Solutions team will make all reasonable efforts to contact the 
applicant in a way that is acceptable to them. For example, if the 
applicant has sight issues, any communication can be sent in a 
specified font size, or if the applicant is vulnerable, any communication 
can be through a nominated third party. 
 
 

6.3.3 Disqualification Review 

i. Most decisions will initially be made by the Housing Solutions Advisors 
and any review of such decisions is undertaken by a more senior officer 
in the team not involved in the initial decision or the allocation panel.  
For any decisions that are made by a Senior Officer or the Allocations 
Panel the reviews will be dealt with by the Head of Service or a housing 
manager who has not had any previous involvement in a given case. 

 
ii. Decisions to disqualify form the Housing Register under the grounds of 

unacceptable behaviour or rent arrears would be made by the Council’s 
Allocations Panel. The applicant will be contacted to discuss this, and 
the interviewing officer would then refer the case to the allocations 
panel.  The applicant will be notified of the Panel decision by letter.  
When a decision has been made to disqualify an applicant from the 
Housing Register, they have the right to a review of this.  The review 
will be carried out by the Head of service or manager not involved in the 
original decision.   

 
iii. All requests for a review must be made within 21 days of the date of the 

relevant notification letter. 
 

iv. The review must be considered on the basis of policy, law and known 
facts at the date of the review. The review will consider any 
representations, whether written or otherwise, made by the applicant or 
an advocate if the applicant is unable to put forward their own 
representation due to being vulnerable. 

 
v. The disqualification review must be conducted within 56 days of the 

request being made.   
 

vi. A written notification of the decision, including the grounds of the 
decision, will be sent to the applicant. All correspondence will be sent to 
the applicant’s home address or a mailing address of their choice. If the 
applicant is of no fixed abode, the decision letter can be collected from 
the Council offices in Tamworth where it will be held for 28 days from 
the date the decision is made. 

 

Page 92



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 73 of 77 
 

6.3.4 Homelessness Suitability Review 

Review of ‘suitability’ of an offer of accommodation for households accepted 
as statutory homeless. 
 

i. Applicants that have been accepted as statutorily homeless are entitled 
to request a statutory review where they consider that an offer of 
accommodation was not suitable.  

 
ii. Where an applicant has refused a suitable offer of accommodation and 

the Council discharges its relevant duties, they would then be placed in 
Band 3. 
 

iii. Requests for a review of suitability must be made within 21 days of the 
date the applicant is notified of the Council’s decision. 
 

iv. When refusing an offer of accommodation and requesting a review, the 
reasons for refusal must be provided to the housing solutions service, 
where a review officer or manager will review the case and make a 
decision on the applicant’s review request within 8 weeks (56 working 
days). 
 

v. The applicant will be advised to accept the offer, as the property will not 
be held whilst the review decision is being made.  Any other bids made 
on other properties during this period will be discounted. 
 

vi. If the decision is that the offer was not suitable the applicant’s priority 
will be reinstated to that prior to the refusal and they will be able to 
continue to bid. 
 

vii. If the review decision is that the offer was suitable and the applicant did 
not accept the property prior to requesting a review, the Council will 
notify the applicant that it has discharged its duty under homelessness 
legislation and that no further offers will be made. The application will 
then remain in Band 3. 
 

viii. If an applicant remains dissatisfied, they can request a further review 
on a point of law through the courts.  

  

Page 93



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 74 of 77 
 

6.3.5 Statutory Right of Review 

i. Applicants have the right to request of all decisions in relation to an 
application. Some of the examples are listed below: 

• The applicant is found to be ineligible. 
• The applicant is found to be disqualified. 
• Cancellation because applicant failed to provide evidence. 
• Applicant is dissatisfied with the assessment (band) of their 

application. 
• Cancellation because the applicant failed to bid. 
• Duration of the disqualification from the housing register. 
• Applicant is dissatisfied with the reassessment (band) of their 

application following a change in circumstances. 
• Applicant is dissatisfied with the offer of accommodation which 

they deem as unreasonable or unsuitable. 
 

ii. This review process only applies to decisions in relation to the housing 
register. Reviews in relation to homelessness decisions are subject to 
separate processes not covered within this policy. There may be some 
overlap such as a review of the suitability of accommodation. 
 

iii. The right of review process is only followed where a decision is made 
which directly affects the application. For examples of what constitutes 
a decision see section 6.1. 
 

iv. The request for a review should be emailed to:ReviewsHS@tamworth.gov.uk 
or by writing to: Housing Solutions Team, Tamworth Borough Council, 
Marmion House, Lichfield Street, Tamworth, Staffordshire, B79 7BZ. 

 
v. Where the applicant cannot write their own letter, they can contact the 

Council and a council officer will help them. 
 
vi. Applicants will have a period of 21days in order to request a review of any 

given decision.  
 
vii. A right of review will be dealt with by a more senior officer within the Housing 

Solutions Team than the one who made the original decision, who will assess 
all known facts and information available to them and will review the decision.  
The officer has 28 days from when the banding review has been received to 
make a decision and the applicant will be notified in writing. 

 
viii. If the senior officer determines that the information provided results in an 

amendment to the decision, the application will be reassessed based on the 
information held. 

 
ix. If the applicant remains dissatisfied, they have a final right of review which 

will be conducted by a manager. This must be received within 21 of the first 
right of review decision. If the manager determines the decision was wrong, 
the application will be reassessed based on the information held. 

Page 94

mailto:ReviewsHS@tamworth.gov.uk


 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 75 of 77 
 

 
x. Officers will then have 28 days in order to complete a banding review or a 

period of 56 days in order to complete more complex disqualification reviews 
or a suitability of accommodation review. 

 
xi. Whilst applicants are under review any bids applicants make will be 

discounted. 
 
 

6.3.6 External Reviews 

Where an applicant is unhappy with the Council’s review decision, they are 
entitled to write to the Housing Ombudsman, 81 Aldwych, London, WC2B 4HN 
or The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsmen (LGSCO) who will 
also consider complaints regarding the Council’s housing allocation scheme 
and policy.  
 
If an applicant remains dissatisfied and feels the Tamworth has not acted 
correctly an applicant may also apply for a judicial review of the decision. 

  

Page 95



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 76 of 77 
 

Appendix 1: Allocation Panel Terms of Reference 

What is the allocation panel 
 
The panel is made up of representatives from Housing Solutions, Tenancy 
sustainment (Income), tenancy sustainment (ASB) and Safeguarding to ensure 
assessments for exclusion from the housing register are assessed consistently, fairly 
and in line with the Allocations Policy. 
 
These meetings are held to make decisions considering disqualification and reviews 
of exclusion from the Housing Register. 
 
 
Frequency of panel meetings 
 
Panel meetings are held every 4 weeks or as needed. Applicants will be advised in 
writing the outcome of the Panel assessment and have the opportunity to ask for a 
review of this. The meetings are minuted and the outcomes are added to the 
individual application notes.  
 
 
Considering disqualification 
 
It is important to consider the following, when reviewing an application for 
disqualification: 
 

• Background information and current circumstances  
• The level of ASB  
• Housing investigations 
• Tenancy history 
• Action to date 
• Whether professional supporting evidence is needed to assess the mental 

health of the applicant and how their housing is impacting this. 
• Agency reports on why support the move, the type of property needed and in 

what area and whether additional support can be put in place to support the 
applicant until they can move 

• Consider whether a multiagency meeting or referral to TVP (Tamworth 
Vulnerability Partnership) would be beneficial to agree the way forward 

• What support will be put in place when this person moves to prevent the new 
tenancy failing. 

  

Page 96



 
 

Allocation Policy 

Page 77 of 77 
 

Appendix 2: Age Restricted Properties in the Borough 

 
The table below shows the age restricted properties in Tamworth owned by the 
Council. Applicants must be the age shown or over to qualify for these properties. 
 
Scheme/Block Number of Units Age Restriction 
Ankermoor Court 40 55 
Bright Crescent 28 55 
Burns Road 10 55 
Canning Road 8 55 
Cheatle Court 37 55 
Edward Court 15 55 
Ellerbeck/Annandale 32 55 
Glenfield, Lower Park 35 55 
Harcourt House 51 50 
Lichfield Street 2 55 
Magnolia 21 55 
Masefield Drive 4 55 
Oakendale 30 55 
Peel House 48 50 
St Georges Way 14 55 
Stanhope House 49 50 
Strode House 51 50 
Sunset Close 36 55 
Thomas Hardy Court 49 55 
Townshend House 53 50 
Tudor Crescent 4 55 
Weymouth House 52 50 

 
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 2            

Page 1 of 12 
 

   
 
 

Tamworth Borough Council Policy Review 
Gap Analysis: Tamworth Allocations Policy 
By:  Rachel Khan, CT Senior Associate Consultant 
Date:  31 December 2023 
 
The document assessed is the Allocation Policy for Tamworth Borough Council which was adopted in July 2021. It is called 
“Housing Allocation Policy Final: July 2021. This is embedded below. 
 

Allocations_Policy_FI
NAL July 2021.pdf  

 
The policy has been assessed against current legislation, industry standards and the underlying backdrop facing the Council 
around homelessness. The table below contains Allocation Policy checklist and assesses Tamworth’s policy against each of the 
key components, RAG rated as follows: 
 
 Compliant and no change needed 
 Minor changes needed 
 Not compliant; significant changes needed. 

 
 
 

 

 

 

P
age 99



ANNEX 2            

Page 2 of 12 
 

 

 
 Criteria RAG Assessment 31.12.2023 Proposed Changes 
  Following feedback and Discussion with Tamworth 

January 2024 
 General Observations 

1. Overall, the document captures many of the key 
requirements of a document of this type. It outlines the rules 
to join the housing register, how an application will be 
awarded priority and the approach taken when letting 
properties. 

2. Much of it is easy to read; however there is a considerable 
amount of industry jargon, making it more of an internal 
document rather than a customer facing one. The language 
would benefit from simplification. Some of the sub-headings 
and numbering is confusing to the reader. 

3. The document reads well and flows fairly naturally. It could be 
further improved by introducing a segregated sections as 
follows: an introduction with all things in relating to 
governance, housing options within Tamworth, eligibility and 
qualification, application and assessment, allocation and  
lettings and finally decisions and reviews. 

4. The content is good; and the checklist below shows the 
sections that need strengthening. 

 

Simplify where possible, remove jargon or provide a 
glossary and if this is not possible consider producing a 
customer facing summary document. Undertake first draft 
and then discuss with Tamworth. Flow to be adjusted as 
suggested; by introducing a segregated sections as follows: 
an introduction with all things in relating to governance, 
housing options within Tamworth, eligibility and 
qualification, application and assessment, allocation and 
lettings and finally decisions and reviews. The content will 
remain the same unless a specific change has been 
agreed. 

  

P
age 100



ANNEX 2            

Page 3 of 12 
 

 Criteria RAG Assessment 31.12.2023 Proposed Changes 
Part 1 Introduction  

1.1 The Allocation 
Scheme 

 This is covered in 2 and 2.1  

1.2 The Legal 
Framework 

 Section 3.1 outlines the legal context 
and is well covered. The full list 
required should state: (with the items 
amended in bold below). 

• The Housing Act 1996, Part 6 
as amended by Localism Act 
2011 (England) 

• The Housing Act 1996, Part 7 
as amended by the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 

• Allocation of Housing 
(Procedure) Regulations 1997, 
SI 1997/483 Allocation of 
Housing (England) Regulations 
2002, SI 2002/3264 

• Allocation of Housing and 
Homelessness (Eligibility) 
(England) Regulations 2006, SI 
2006/1294 and all subsequent 
amendments 

• ‘The Allocation of Housing and 
Homelessness (Eligibility) 
(England) (Amendment) (EU 

List contained in current policy, amendments in bold now 
captured.  

P
age 101



ANNEX 2            

Page 4 of 12 
 

Exit) Regulations 2019 (SI 
2019/861)’ 

• Homeless Reduction Act 2017 
and all subsequent 
amendments to 2020 

• Equality Act 2010 (captured in 
section 19 but not in the full 
list) 

• Data Protection Act 2018 and 
contained within the General 
Data Protection Regulation 
2018 (GDPR) (captured in 
section 17.1 but not in the full 
list) 

• Care Act 2014 (not captured) 
• Human Rights Act 1998 (not 

captured) 
• Domestic Abuse Act 2021 
• Children and Social Work Act 

2017 (not captured) 
• The Regulatory Framework for 

Social Housing 2019 
• Armed Forces Act 2021 (not 

captured but guidance is) 
1.4 Allocation of a 

Tenancy 
 Covered in section 2.1  

1.5 Data Protection  Covered in section 17  
1.6 Equalities, Access 

and Monitoring 
 Covered in section 19  

P
age 102



ANNEX 2            

Page 5 of 12 
 

1.7 Force Majeure  This section is not covered Now included 
1.8 Changes to the 

Allocation Scheme 
 Covered in section 21  

1.9 Statement on 
Choice 

 This section is not covered Now included 

 Criteria RAG Assessment 31.12.2023 Proposed Changes 
Part 2 Options for housing in Tamworth  

2.1 Tamworth Scheme  Covered in section 1 and 5  
2.2 Housing Register  This is covered in section 6.1  
2.3 Registered 

Providers 
 This is covered in section 1.6 and 4.6  

2.4 Other housing 
options 

 This is covered in section 4. Tamworth 
has achieved excellence in this area 
as it is offering a mutual exchange 
service to tenants in council stock. 
However this is only for tenants in 
priority need.  A separate MX list for all 
social tenants in the borough may be 
considered to enhance tenant mobility. 
It further adds adaptations to the 
tenant’s own home to prevent the 
need for rehousing. 

 

2.5 Lettings outside of 
the policy 

 This is covered in section 2.2  

 Criteria RAG Assessment 31.12.2023 Proposed Changes 
Part 3 Eligibility and Qualification  

3.1 Eligibility  Covered in section 7  
3.2 Right to Move  Covered in sections 8.6 through to 

8.12. However section 8 requires a 
 

P
age 103



ANNEX 2            

Page 6 of 12 
 

review of its number and bullet 
formatting to make it more accessible 
for the reader. 

3.3 Special 
Arrangements for 
16-18-year-olds 

 This is covered well in sections 6.10 
through to 6.14 

 

3.4 Qualification Rules  Covered well in Section 8  
3.5 Armed Forces Duty  Covered in section 8.5 but needs 

updating for the statutory duty covered 
under the Armed Forces Act 2021 

Now included 

3.6 Non-Qualification 
Rules 

 Covered in section 8.13 through to 
8.25. See below on the approach 
being used by other authorities in 
relation to financial exclusion and 
home ownership, however it will be 
important for Tamworth to walk this 
through to settle on their ideal 
approach. Tamworth covers reduced 
preference in detail; although many 
authorities are resorting to suspension 
rather than demotion by 1 band again 
as the latter can be hard to 
administrate. 

16.2.2024: Agreed £70,000 household income with Tina 
and Sarah based on average earnings, rents and house 
prices in the borough together with LHA rates. Savings to 
remain @ £16,000 as per current policy. Property 
ownership unchanged. 

3.7 Exceptional or 
Mitigating 
Circumstances 

 This is covered in section 16. However 
direct lets contained within this 
section; are a mechanism of lettings 
which usually works alongside any 
CBL system and does not need to be 
an exceptional circ. Similarly 

True exceptional circumstances now included. Direct lets 
are now covered in the allocations and lettings section of 
the policy. Former overrides have been reviewed and built 
in as flexibility decisions that can be made within the policy. 

P
age 104



ANNEX 2            

Page 7 of 12 
 

overriding bedsizes subject to meeting 
the household need and affordability 
also need not be an exceptional 
circumstance.  

3.8 Safe Surrender 
Agreements 

 Covered to a degree under section 
11.40. However it does not cover 
where a tenancy is failing but has not 
yet met the threshold for legal action 
and the tenant is requesting help. 

Current policy has been strengthened to cover tenants who 
ask for help where their tenancy is failing in accordance with 
guidance and regulation. 

3.9 Removal or 
Suspension 

 Covered in a number of sections 
including the refusal of 3 suitable 
offers and disqualifications. This is 
something best contained in one area 
making it easier on the reader. 

No change. 

 Criteria RAG Assessment 31.12.2023 Proposed Changes 
Part 4 Application and Assessment  

4.1 Registration  Covered in section 8.20  
4.2 Household 

Composition 
 Covered in sections 6.1 to 6.4  

4.3 Household Splits  Covered to a degree in section 6.6 Wording simplified 
4.4 Elected Members or 

Employees 
 Covered in sections 6.7 and 6.8  

4.5 Verification and 
Checks 

 Covered in section 8.21  

4.6 False Information  Covered in section 18  
4.7 How priority is 

assessed 
 Covered in section 11  

4.8 Allocation Bands  Accumulative preference is being 
applied in a 5 banded system with 

• Care leavers – now covered by a joint protocol with 
SCC so no change. 

P
age 105



ANNEX 2            

Page 8 of 12 
 

band 1+ highest and band 4 lowest. 
Demotion by one band is being 
applied for reduced preference. 
 
There are areas where the document 
would benefit from improvement: 

• Care leavers could in theory be 
awarded 2 bands (ready to 
move and not ready to move) 
and Move On could also adopt 
this approach. 

• Decants could be tiered 
depending on the immanency 
of the move. 

• For an applicant having a band 
1 and band 1+ can be 
confusing and looking at the 
categories of need these two 
bands may be inflated. 

• If a non-cumulative approach 
was taken, the date or the 
highest priority makes it simple 
for a reader to understand. 

• Decants - Decant Policy has just been reviewed – no 
change. 

• Band 1 and band 1+ - an applicant is not in 2 bands. 
They retain the highest band applicable to them. - 
Band 1+ is only for armed forces and Stat homeless 
cases in further exceptional need – wording made 
clearer for band 1+ 

• Cumulative policy retained. 

4.9 Determination of 
Effective Band Date 

 This section is not covered Included 

4.10 Bedroom 
Entitlement 

 Covered in section 10. The table 
needs simplifying for the reader so 
they do not need to scan back and 
forth. 

Sheltered and bungalows allows now shows those with a 
medical need will be given greater priority than those who 
meet the age criteria. 

P
age 106



ANNEX 2            

Page 9 of 12 
 

4.12 Overcrowding and 
Child of Tenant 

 This is covered in section 11.34  

4.13 Priority on Health 
Grounds 

 This is covered in sections 11.3 
through to 11.4.3. Many authorities are 
moving to two categories of priority 
emergency and urgent on the basis 
that the availability of social housing 
might be low or it is hard to distinguish 
between medium and low. The 
Council does not have a medical 
professional 

Tamworth will sought to use Now Medical to assess 
complex cases. Policy wording adjusted to show medical 
professionals may assist the Council with assessments. 
Current banding for medicals retained as Council feels it 
works. 

4.14 Welfare Grounds  This is covered in sections 11.15 
through to 11.16.3 

 

4.15 Specialist 
accommodation 

 There is a section on sheltered 
housing. However the Council is 
finding some of these difficult to let 
either because they are clustered in 
one part of the borough or because 
the age restriction of 55 does not work 
in the current climate. Tamworth 
needs to undertake a supply and 
demand exercise on sheltered 
accommodation which should include 
a survey of existing tenants and ideally 
undertaken jointly with the registered 
providers. 

The policy remains unchanged at this time. However the 
Cabinet report highlights the need for a full investigation of 
sheltered stock in the borough. 

4.16 Pitches for Gypsies 
and Travellers 

 This section is not covered Statement introduced as there are no pitches in Tamworth. 

P
age 107



ANNEX 2            

Page 10 of 12 
 

4.17 Notification  Covered in the appendix on the 
process; it is beneficial to have this in 
the main body of the document as an 
industry standard especially as the 
appendix is a separate document 
rather than a section at the end. 

Included 

4.18 Cancellation of 
Applications 

 Covered in sections 12.12 to 12.17.  

4.19 Change in 
Circumstance 

 Covered in  

4.20 Deliberate or 
Worsening 
Circumstances 

 Covered in section 9.3  

 Criteria RAG Assessment 31.12.2023 Proposed Changes 
Part 5 Allocations and Lettings  

5.1 Direct Lets  Only covered as an exceptional 
circumstance in section 16.4 

Now covered in the allocations and lettings section of the 
policy as mechanism available to Council to make 
expediated lettings to extremely urgent cases. 

5.2 Choice Based 
Lettings 

 Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

5.4 Advertising a 
property 

 Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

5.5 Bidding  Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

5.6 Assisted Bidding 
(Auto Bidding) 

 Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

5.7 Grouped Bids  Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

P
age 108



ANNEX 2            

Page 11 of 12 
 

5.8 Shortlisting  Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

5.9 Offer of 
Accommodation 

 Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

5.10 Affordability checks 
when allocating 
social housing 

 Covered well in section 14  

5.11 Viewing  Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

5.12 Resulting the Offer  Covered in the appendix on voids and 
lettings 

Now in the allocations and lettings section of the policy. 

5.13 Tenancy 
Determination 

 This section is not covered Included 

5.14 Tenancy 
Sustainment 

 This section is not covered Included 

5.15 Local Letting 
Provision 

 The introduction of a LLP for High 
Rise should be given consideration. 

The Cabinet report highlights the need to investigate High 
Rise lettings further. The policy remain unchanged until this 
is undertaken. 

5.16 Hard to Lets  This section is not covered See LLP and Sheltered, now included  
5.17 Sensitive Lets  covered throughout section 16; 

specifically 16.4, in addition 16.8 and 
16.14. Dedicated section needed in 
allocations and lettings where it is not 
treated as an exception; but rather as 
the approach the Council takes. 

Included 

5.18 Publicising Lettings  Only covered in relation to annual 
lettings plans which are not routinely 
produced 

Tamworth will be producing Annual Lettings Plans in the 
future. Current lettings are publicised on 
www.findingahometamworth.co.uk. 

 Criteria RAG Assessment 31.12.2023 Proposed Changes 

P
age 109

http://www.findingahometamworth.co.uk/


ANNEX 2            

Page 12 of 12 
 

Part 6 Appeals, Complaints, Decisions and Reviews  
6.1 Decisions  Covered to a degree in 13.13 and 

13.14. Policy would benefit from a 
clear definitions of a decision, change 
of circumstance, complaint, right of 
review and an application review all in 
one place. 

Included 

6.2 Complaints  Covered in section 20  
6.3 Re-registrations  Annual reviews covered  
6.4 Statutory Right of 

Review 
 Covered under review of banding in 

sections 13.8 to13.12. However the 
right of review extends to all decisions 
in relation to an application. 

Simplified for reader 

6.5 Legal Review  Covered in 13.20  
 
 
 

P
age 110



Annex 3:
Tamworth Policy Evidence Pack

Data and analysis to support the recommendations to 
Cabinet when they consider the revised Allocations Policy.

P
age 111



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Income and Savings 
Thresholds

P
age 112



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Context
Current policy allows a threshold of £30,000 income for a single person and £60,000 for 
a couple. Savings are capped at £16,000

A review of the financial thresholds permitting households to qualify on the Housing 
Register. When the last policy was reviewed in 2021, it was necessary to align savings 
with Universal Credit and prioritise social housing for those who could not source other 
accommodation. This has worked very well.

Annual reviews of financial thresholds are indicated in the policy. This is to ensure the 
amounts are set at the appropriate level in the current climate, based on average 
earnings, LHA rates, average rents and house prices in the borough, and the applicant’s 
ability to afford to source alternative accommodation. 

P
age 113



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Average earnings in Tamworth

Tamworth (£) West Midlands (£) Great Britain (£)

Gross weekly pay

Full-time workers £650.10 £651.60 £682.60

Male (FT) £684.30 £694.80 £728.30

Female (FT) £574.00 £593.70 £628.80

Hourly pay (Excluding overtime)

Full-time workers £15.90 £16.50 £17.49

Male (FT) £16.20 £17.06 £18.15

Female (FT) £15.04 £15.60 £16.64

Source: ONS annual survey of hours and earnings - resident analysis (2023)
Nomis - Official Census and Labour Market Statistics (nomisweb.co.uk) 

P
age 114

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157180/printable.aspx


|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Rental Prices in Tamworth

Source: Home.co.uk: Tamworth Market Rent Summary

Local Housing Allowance 
(monthly)

Average rent (pcm) Median rent

Number of Bedrooms

1 Bed £425.01 £675 £675

2 Beds £550.02 £872 £850

3 Beds £650.00 £1,121 £1,200

4 Beds £850.02 £1,439 £1,400

P
age 115

https://www.home.co.uk/for_rent/tamworth/current_rents?location=tamworth


|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Ability to pay rent deductions 
The most common rule of thumb to determine how much someone can afford to spend on housing is that it should 
be no more than 30% of their gross monthly income, which is the total income before taxes or other deductions. For 
someone renting a property, that 30% includes rent and utility costs.

If we take the example of a Female FT worker with an average earning of £574 pw, which is £2,296 pm. 30% of the 
monthly income would be £689. An average private rent in the borough is £675 pcm for a 1 bed and £1,121 pcm for a 
3 bed. The female worker could just about afford the 1 bed but if she had a family, she could not afford even a 2 bed.

Current policy allows a threshold of £30,000 income. The female worker annual income would be £27,552 so she 
would fall below the threshold and would qualify for the housing register. But a male worker with an average earning 
of £684 pw, £35,568 would not.

In the last couple of years since the policy was last reviewed, authorities are largely looking at the total household 
income rather than distinguishing between a single person or couple. This redresses any possibility of inequality.

P
age 116



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

House prices in Tamworth

Right Move data
Overall average price of properties sold in Tamworth in 
the last year: £251,391
The majority of sales during the last year were semi-
detached properties. 
Average price by type of properties:

Overall, sold prices in Tamworth over the last year were 
5% down on the previous year and similar to the 2021 
peak of £249,106.

Zoopla data
Average sold price of a property in Tamworth in the 
last 12 month: £249,038

Semi-detached properties £239,783

Detached properties £363,895

Terraced properties £196,125

Semi-detached properties £353,258

Detached properties £234,755

Terraced properties £185,428

Flats £132,558

Source: House Prices in Tamworth (rightmove.co.uk) Source: House prices in Tamworth - sold prices and estimates - Zoopla

P
age 117

https://www.rightmove.co.uk/house-prices/tamworth.html
https://www.zoopla.co.uk/house-prices/tamworth/


|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Ability to purchase a property

Income and mortgage are related factors that determine how much you can afford to 
borrow and repay. There are different ways to calculate the income requirement for a 
mortgage, such as the 28% mortgage rule, the two-and-a-half times annual gross 
income rule, or the comparison of monthly income and expenses.

If we use the example of the female worker with an average weekly earnings of £574 
pw which equates to £27,552 pa and we take the two-and-a-half-time rule, they will 
qualify for a mortgage of £68,880.

The property that would cost the least is a flat which is in the region of £132,558, which 
is twice what she could afford.

P
age 118



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Proposal for Income Threshold
On reviewing the deductions, the proposal is:

1. Remove the single and couple thresholds in the current policy and instead have a 
household income that takes into consideration the differences in average earnings, 
single parents with families.

2. Increase the annual income threshold to £70,000 which is £10,000 more than the 
current couple allowance which takes into consideration the level at which someone 
could afford to rent privately or purchase a home.

3. Households with an income which is under £70,000 would qualify for the Housing 
Register.

P
age 119



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Savings Limitations Deductions

The savings threshold in the policy is currently £16,000 and aligned to the Universal 
Credit. Most authorities set a limit for savings, as an applicant would be expected to 
source their own accommodation if their savings exceeds this limit and Tamworth 
does this.

Lichfield and Birmingham are currently setting a savings limit of £16,000 aligned to 
Universal Credit. North Warwickshire does not have the policy public facing but 
advises it will make decisions on a case-by-case basis. 

If the limit is increased and it is higher than neighbouring boroughs, we run the risk 
of increasing the demand of applications to join the Tamworth Housing Register.

P
age 120



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Proposal for Savings Limit

On reviewing the deductions, the proposal is:

1.To retain the limit in the current policy of £16,000.
2.To evaluate on a case-by-case basis, applicants who exceed this 

limit, where they might need specialist accommodation such as 
sheltered and cannot easily source this themselves.

3.To monitor the savings, limit annual alongside the household 
income threshold.

P
age 121



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

High Rise Properties

P
age 122



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

P
age 123

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/ff9539a2-2826-42b5-8885-76d39233c356/?pbi_source=PowerPoint


|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

High Rise Voids

The table on the left shows the number of voids, and the table on the right shows the how long on average 
number of weeks it takes to let a property. Even though there are fewer high- rise voids,  they are taking as 
long or longer to let as general needs voids.

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

2020 2021 2022 2023

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Total Number Of Voids by Type

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

2020 2021 2022 2023

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Average Void Duration (Weeks)

P
age 124



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

High Rise Lettings
General needs 
will always 
form the bulk 
of lettings.  We 
can see High 
Rise are the 
least number of 
lets per year. ** 
2020 is a part year due to Covid 
restrictions and policy not 
implemented until June 2020**

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

0

50

100

150

200

250

Lets by Type 
2019 - 2023

P
age 125



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Letting Type

In accordance with the Tamworth model the bulk of lettings are via the choice-based lettings 
scheme “finding a home in Tamworth”

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

Direct Lets vs CBL

 
 From June 

2020 2021 2022 2023

Total CBL Lets 369 411 308 348

Total Direct Lets

0 * not 
recorded 

(covid) 3 2 5

% Direct Lets 0% 0.7% 0.6% 1.4%

P
age 126



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Demand for properties

The high-rise properties which largely consist of 1- and 2-bedroom properties are 
primarily used for over 50’s accommodation.

We want to undertake a demand led analysis of high-rise properties based on:
• Numbers of applicants by bands on the Housing Register
• Number of applicants by bedsize on the Housing Register
• Housing Category by number on the Housing Register
• Number of households in Bed and Breakfast and how long they wait
• Number of households in Temporary Accommodation and how long they wait

The following slides give an indication of demand in March 2024.

P
age 127



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Applicants on the Housing Register

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

  No of Apps

Band 1 66

Band 2 201

Band 3 120

Band 4 51
Sum: 438

No of 
Bedrooms No of Apps

1 173
2 113
3 96
4 44
5 10
6 2

Sum: 438

Applicant Numbers by Band Applicant Numbers by Bedsize

P
age 128



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Housing Categories on the Housing Register

• 139 overcrowding
• 111 have a medical need
• 95 have a social/welfare need
• 67 homeless need (22 main duty, 23 relief duty, 13 prevention duty, 5 no duty 

and 4 successful mediation for 6 + months)
• 49 need to move on from supported accommodation (3 ready to move now)
• 39 in banding for under occupying social housing
• 4 incentive to move
• 4 being over 35yrs in shared accommodation
• 1 armed forces banding
• 1 best use of stock
• ***(Applicants may fall into more than one category, numbers won't add up to previous slide)***. 

P
age 129



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Homeless Households and B&B

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

0

5

10

15

20

25

Numbers Placed in Bed and Breakfast

Sum of Families

Sum of Singles

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

Average Stay in B&B (Nights)

Sum of Families

Sum of Singles

P
age 130



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Homeless Households and TA

The table on the left shows the numbers placed in TA, and the table on the right shows the average length of 
stay in TA. With high rise voids taking so long to let, there may be a solution to letting a percentage to 
homeless households.

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Numbers Placed in Self-Contained 

Sum of Families

Sum of Singles

Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3 Q1 Q3

2020-21 2021-22 2022-232023-24

0

50

100

150

200

250

300
Average Stay in Self Contained (Nights)

Sum of Families
Sum of Singles

P
age 131



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Sheltered Accommodation

P
age 132



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

P
age 133

https://app.powerbi.com/groups/me/reports/ff9539a2-2826-42b5-8885-76d39233c356/?pbi_source=PowerPoint


|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Average Waiting Times

The table shows the average waiting time by band on the housing register for sheltered accommodation. Two bed 
need is largely centred in bands 1 and 3. Band 2 shows the highest 1 bed need.

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

P
age 134



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Sheltered Voids

The table on the left shows the number of voids, and the table on the right shows the how long on average 
number of weeks it takes to let a property. Even though there are fewer high rise and sheltered properties, 
they are taking as long or longer to let.

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

2020 2021 2022 2023

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Total Number Of Voids by Type

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l N

ee
ds

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

2020 2021 2022 2023

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Average Void Duration (Weeks)

P
age 135



|Replace shape with logo 
on the Master layout.

Sheltered Lettings
General needs 
will always 
form the bulk 
of lettings.  We 
can see 
Sheltered 
lettings are 
considerably 
lower even if 
you add the 
high rise to 
them.**2020 Part 
year** 

Source: Tamworth Borough Council

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

Ge
ne

ra
l

Hi
gh

 R
ise

Sh
el

te
re

d

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

0

50

100

150

200

250

Lets by Type 
2019 - 2023

P
age 136



Rachel Khan, Senior Associate Consultant; Campbell Tickell Ltd
Nina Cilins, Policy & Research Officer; Campbell Tickell Ltd

Thank YouP
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7 

 

 
ANNEX 4 
 
Part 1 – Details  
What Policy/ Procedure/ 
Strategy/Project/Service 
is being assessed? 

Allocations Policy 

Date Conducted 
 

March 2024 

Name of Lead Officer and 
Service Area 

Rachel Khan, Senior Associate Consultant 
(Campbell Tickell) 

Commissioning Team 
(if applicable) 

Sarah Finnegan 
Housing Solutions Team 

Director Responsible for  
project/service area 

Tina Mustafa 
Assistant Director 

Who are the main 
stakeholders 

Applicants on the Housing Register 
Residents of the borough (including social tenants) 
Registered providers 
External agencies 
Internal departments 

Describe what 
consultation has been 
undertaken.  Who was 
involved and what was 
the outcome 

There are no significant changes to the policy being 
presented to Cabinet in March 2024. The few 
changes there are fall into the following: 

i. Improved transparency in the document. 
ii. Increase of the household income to 

£70,000 which represents a positive change. 
iii. Two additional housing categories of need in 

low social/welfare 
iv. Additional section to negotiated tenancy 

surrender for failing tenancies which have 
not met yet met the threshold for eviction. 

 
It was deemed that consultation is not required at 
this point. 

Outline the wider research 
that has taken place (E.G. 
commissioners, partners, 
other providers etc) 

The research has been restricted to desktop 
research: 

• Gap Analysis of the current policy by 
Campbell Tickell. 

• Household income thresholds looked at 
average earnings, private rents in the 
borough and property prices. 

• Savings we looked at surrounding boroughs 
and decided not to change it at this time. 

• Data on demand in Tamworth gleaned from 
the Housing Register, homeless households 
in B&B and TA. 

Page 139



Page 2 of 7 

 

• Data on supply restricted to the Council 
voids and lettings at present as Cabinet are 
being asked for a review of both high rise 
and sheltered accommodation. Fuller 
research will be done at this time. 

A decision to review or 
change a service 
 

 

A 
Strategy/Policy/Procedur
e 
 
 

 Policy 

What are you assessing? 
Indicate with an ‘x’ which 
applies 
 

A function, service or 
project 
 

 

New 
 

 
Existing 
 

 
Being reviewed 
 

 Review 

What kind of assessment 
is it?  Indicate with an ‘x’ 
which applies 
 

Being reviewed as a 
result of budget 
constraints / End of 
Contract 

 

 
 

Page 140



Page 3 of 7 

 

 
 
Part 2 – Summary of Assessment  
Give a summary of your proposal and set out the aims/ objectives/ purposes/ and 
outcomes of the area you are impact assessing. 
 
We have improved the flow and accessibility of the document to make it easier to 
read. The fairness was already there, the transparency has been improved. The 
policy change table attached as Annex 2 identifies each change made following a 
gap analysis of the existing policy by the consultant commissioned Campbell 
Tickell Ltd. 
 
The key areas of change are: 

1. Compliance with legislation introduced after 2021 
2. New section: force majeure 
3. New section: statement of choice 
4. Statutory duty for former members of the armed forces now included 
5. Disqualification criteria: financial threshold increased to £70,000 
6. Negotiated tenancy surrender: strengthened to cover tenants who ask for 

help where their tenancy is failing in accordance with guidance and 
regulation. 

7. Age restricted properties; medical need will be given greater preference 
than just age criteria. 

8. Effective band date; clearer guidance given 
9. Care leavers still in support up to 25 will be given low social/welfare 
10. Out-of-borough homeless household placements who would benefit 

returning to the borough will be given low social/welfare. 
11. Statement on pitches for gypsies and travellers as there none in the 

borough 
 
Who will be affected and how? 
 

• All existing applicants and new applicants will be favourably impacted by 
the accessibility of the document. 

• Lower income households will benefit from the increased financial 
threshold. 

• Tenants who need to be rehoused because all other avenues to sustain 
the tenancy have been exhausted will benefit. 

• Care leavers will benefit up to the age of 25. 
• Out-of-borough homeless placements may benefit. 

 
Are there any other functions, policies or services linked to this impact 
assessment? 
 
Yes    No   
 
If you answered ‘Yes’, please indicate what they are? 
 
Tenancy management policy ( Currently under review).  
 
 

Page 141



Page 4 of 7 

 

 
Part 3 – Impact on the Community  
Thinking about each of the Areas below, does or could the Policy function, 
or service have a direct impact on them? 
 
Impact Area Yes No Reason (provide brief 

explanation ) 
Age 
 

  Care leavers up to age of 25 still receiving 
support will be given a low social/welfare 
band. 

Disability   Greater preference given to those with 
medical need for general needs bungalow 
accommodation. 

Gender Reassignment   Bedroom entitlement now lends itself to the 
use of gender rather than sex. 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

  NA 

Pregnancy & Maternity   NA 
Race   NA 
Religion or belief   NA 
Sexual orientation   NA 
Sex   Now termed gender 
Gypsy/Travelling Community   No change as there are no pitches 
Those with caring/dependent 
responsibilities  

  NA 

Those having an offending 
past 

  NA 

Children   Those with gender reassignment will be 
captured as gender in bedroom entitlement 

Vulnerable Adults   Household income increases to £70,000 
Families   Household income increases to £70,000 
Those who are homeless   Those placed out-of-borough may now be 

given low social/welfare 
Those on low income   Household income increases to £70,000 
Those with drug or alcohol 
problems 

  NA 

Those with mental health 
issues 

  NA 

Those with physical health 
issues 

  Greater preference given to those with 
medical need for general needs bungalow 
accommodation. 

Social inclusion 
Please include refugees and 
asylum seekers,  

  NA 

Social inclusion: Armed 
Forces 
The Armed Forces Covenant 
is a pledge that together we 
acknowledge and understand 
that those who have served in 
the armed forces, and their 
families, should be treated 
with fairness and respect and 

  Statutory duty now included 

Page 142



Page 5 of 7 

 

any impact should be 
considered 
Health and Wellbeing 
 

  Low social/welfare now includes care 
leavers up to 25 and out-of-borough 
placements with a local connection to 
Tamworth. 

Climate Change    NA 
 
 

Page 143



Page 6 of 7 

 

 
Part 4 – Risk Assessment 
From evidence given from previous question, please detail what measures 
or changes will be put in place to mitigate adverse implications. this 
includes climate change considerations 
 
This is the section in which to please outline any actions to mitigate 
negative or enhance positive impacts in terms of economic, environmental 
or wider societal considerations, and actions to review and monitor the 
overall impact of the change accordingly. 
Impact Area 
 

Details of the 
Impact 

Action to reduce risk 

E.g.:  Families Families no longer 
supported which 
may lead to a 
reduced standard 
of living & 
subsequent health 
issues 

Signposting to other services.  Look 
to external funding opportunities.  

There are no adverse impacts associated with the revisions proposed for March 
2024 

Page 144



Page 7 of 7 

 

Part 5 - Action Plan and Review  
 
Detail in the plan below, actions that you have identified in your Community Impact Assessment, which will eliminate discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations. 
 
If you are unable to eliminate or reduce negative impact on any of the impact areas, you should explain why 
 
Impact (positive or 
negative) identified 

Action Person(s) 
responsible 

Target date Required outcome 

 
 

Outcomes and Actions entered onto 
Pentana 

   

There are no actions identified to mitigate the positive impacts in the revised document. 
 
Date of Review (If applicable) This will be review if further revisions are made to the Allocations Policy 
 
Guidance and form updated July 2023 following CMT approval. 
 

P
age 145



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Annex 5  

The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities is currently out for 
consultation until 26th March  on major reforms to how social housing is allocated “to 
make the system fairer and not available to those who abuse it”. They are seeking 
the views of authorities in England, on the following proposals: 

 

1.0 UK connection test – where a person must demonstrate their connection to the UK 
before they can be allocated social housing. This can be achieved by (a) being a 
British citizen, Irish citizen, Commonwealth citizen with a right of abode, or EEA or 
Swiss citizen with equal treatment rights or (b) by being a lawful resident in the UK 
for 10 years. If brought in, it will mean that all new applicants will automatically have 
to demonstrate the 10 year rule, and existing applicants may be removed from the 
Housing Register if they no longer meet the 10 year rule. For homeless households, 
if they meet the homelessness rules, but they do meet the test, discharge of duty can 
only be via the private sector placing a further burden on the lack of private landlords 
who are will/able to provide suitable accommodation. 

 

1.1 Local connection test – where a person must demonstrate a connection to a local 
area for at least 2 years before they can be allocated social housing. This will ensure 
greater consistency across the country and ensure more local people can access 
social housing in the area they call home, supporting people to put down roots and 
maintain links to family and community. This will mean no change for Tamworth who 
already applies this test to all applicants. 

 

1.2 Income test – setting thresholds for applicants and those on a waiting list to qualify 
for social housing. This will have no impact on existing tenants, but rather will ensure 
new tenancies are reserved for those who, at the point of signing for a new social 
home, would most struggle to afford private accommodation. Tamworth set a 
threshold in the policy approved by Full Council on the 19 November 2019 with an 
indication that this would be reviewed annually. The policy before Cabinet on the 14 
March has a refreshed threshold for consideration. 

 

1.3 Anti-social behaviour test – people who have unspent convictions for certain 
criminal anti-social behaviour, as well as certain civil sanctions, will be disqualified 
from social housing for a defined period. This will have implications for grounds for 
possession for existing tenants who are facing eviction, who should they be accepted 
as intentionally homeless will only be discharged via the private sector. Tamworth 
already awards reduced preference for applicants with a history of anti-social 
behaviour, they will have to go further and disqualify them for a defined period and it 
is not yet clear whether the period will be defined in the ensuing regulation. 

 

1.4 Terrorism test – terrorist offenders with unspent convictions will not qualify for social 
housing unless excluding them would increase the risk to public safety. Tamworth 

Page 147



would actively have to check for convictions of this nature and it is not yet clear how 
the risk of public safety would be assessed when considering disqualification 

 

1.5 Grounds for eviction (anti-social behaviour and terrorist offences) – 
implementing a ‘three strikes and you’re out’ policy for repeat offenders of anti-social 
behaviour and creating a new ground for eviction for terrorist offences. Tamworth will 
need to ensure that the tenancy management policy and the tenancy strategy are  
adjusted accordingly. This is related to section 8.5. 

 

1.6 Fraudulent declaration test - mandating a period of disqualification for those who 
knowingly or recklessly make false statements when applying for social housing. 
Tamworth already addresses this in the both the current policy and the revised 
document before Cabinet in March 2024. 

 

1.7 Applicants on the Housing Register – applying the new eligibility and qualification 
tests not only to new applicants but also to those currently on a social housing 
waiting list. Should all of the rules come into effect, Tamworth will need to review the 
policy again, and actively manage the current Housing Register to remove or 
disqualify existing applicants who no longer meet the rules. It is not yet clear how 
long the authority will be given to undertake the exercise but some time will be given. 
The government is seeking to bring these rules in via secondary legislation i.e. 
regulation and that means they could be in effect as early as September 2024. 

 

1.8 Officers are fully across the proposed introductions, and once the consultation comes 
to an end will be advise Cabinet further of the outcome. 

 

 

Page 148


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Allocations Policy and Management of the Councils Housing Register
	Appendix 1 Allocations Policy and Management of the Councils Housing Register
	1	Introduction
	1.1	The Allocation Policy
	1.2	Legal Framework
	1.3	Definition of an ‘allocation’ of accommodation”
	1.3.1	What is an Allocation?
	1.3.2	What is not an Allocation?
	1.3.3	Transfers

	1.4	Data Protection and Confidentiality
	1.5	Equality and Diversity

	1.5.1	The Council’s Choice Based Lettings Scheme and Allocations Policy have been designed to ensure that its services are fair and equitable for all of its customers.
	1.5.2	The Allocations Policy is accessible to all of those eligible and does not discriminate against anyone on the grounds of age, disability, gender, race, colour, national origin, sexual orientation or any other factor that may cause disadvantage.
	1.5.3	Due to legal circumstances, there may be occasions when applicants are unable to join the housing register. This criterion has been outlined within the Eligibility and Qualification sections of this Policy.
	1.5.4	This policy has been drafted with reference to the Equality Act 2010 and also with regard to the Council’s Public Sector Equality Duty.
	1.5.5	The Council remains committed to help customers and applicants who have difficulties and who are vulnerable, to access this policy.
	1.5.6	The Allocations policy and application forms can be provided in other formats if required, such as large print or braille.
	1.5.7	This policy has been developed following a consultation.
	1.6	Force Majeure
	1.7	Review of this Policy
	1.8	Statement on Choice

	2	Options for housing in Tamworth
	2.1	Tamworth Allocations Model
	2.2	Housing Register
	2.3	Mutual Exchanges for Social Tenants
	2.4	Low-Cost Home Ownership
	2.4.1	Shared Ownership

	2.5	Private Renting
	2.6	Adaptations to your home
	2.7	Help and Advice
	2.8	Registered Providers

	3	Eligibility and Qualification
	3.1	Eligibility
	3.2	Right to Move
	3.3	Armed Forces
	3.4	Applicants under 18 years old
	3.5	Serious Offenders
	3.6	National Witness Mobility Scheme (NWMS)
	3.7	Qualification
	3.7.1	Qualifying Person
	3.7.2	Local Connection

	b.	Employment
	c.	Close family with additional health/welfare needs
	3.7.3	Local Connection Exemptions

	3.8	Disqualification
	3.8.1	Disqualified Persons
	3.8.2	Disqualification Criteria

	a.	Unacceptable behaviour or former tenant debt
	b.	Property Ownership
	c.	Financial Resources
	d.	Savings, Assets and Capital
	e.	People with no housing need
	f.	Refused 3 offers of accommodation within 12 months.
	3.9	Reasonable Preference without meeting the Qualification Criteria
	3.10	Exceptional or Mitigating Circumstances
	3.11	Negotiated Tenancy Surrender

	4	Application and Assessment
	4.1	How to apply
	4.2	Who can be included on the application form
	4.3	Councillors/Board Members/Employees and their close relatives
	4.4	Fraud, Misrepresentation or Withholding Information
	4.5	Verification and Checks
	4.6	Bedroom Entitlement
	4.6.1	The table below provides a summary of the size (and type) of property an applicant will be allocated. You will only be able to bid for the property size you have been allocated to.
	4.6.2	Bedroom Requirements
	4.6.5	Carers
	4.6.6	People with disabilities who cannot share
	4.6.7	Fostering
	4.6.8	Under Occupation
	4.6.9	Over Occupation

	4.7	Property Eligibility
	4.7.1	Sheltered Housing
	4.7.2	Properties where bidding is limited to certain households or bands.

	4.8	Banding
	4.9	Reduced Preference
	4.9.1	Reasonable preference without fulfilling local connection
	4.9.3	Deliberate worsening of circumstances
	4.10	Cumulative Preference
	4.11	Determination of an effective band date
	4.12	Housing Need
	4.12.1	Medical Grounds
	4.12.2	Social, Welfare and Hardship grounds
	4.12.3	Overcrowding
	4.12.4	Move on from Supported Housing
	4.12.5	Under-occupation
	4.12.6	Incentive to Move scheme
	4.12.7	Unsanitary or otherwise unsatisfactory housing
	4.12.8	Decanting social housing tenants for major repairs
	4.12.9	Best use of stock or tenants with an urgent need to move
	4.12.10 Move-On from Care (Staffordshire County Council)
	4.12.11 Homeless Households

	Accepted statutory homeless households.
	4.13	Gypsies and Travellers
	4.14	Notification of your assessment
	4.15	Change of circumstances
	4.15.1	Once registered it is the applicant’s responsibility to inform the Council of any change in their circumstances that affects their application such as contact details, changes in household members, eligibility, qualification and/or priority or banding for housing.
	Examples could include but are not limited to:
	4.15.3	Failure to notify the Council may result in the withholding of an offer of accommodation whilst the application is investigated or withdrawal of an offer whilst the application is reassessed.
	4.16	Cancellation of Applications

	5	Allocations and Lettings
	5.1	Direct Lets
	5.2	Choice Based Lettings
	5.2.1	Advertising a property
	5.2.2	Targeted adverts
	5.2.3	Withdrawing a property
	5.2.4	Bidding
	5.2.5	Shortlisting
	5.2.6	Successful bidders
	5.2.7	Unsuccessful bidders
	5.2.8	Rejection by a Registered Provider

	5.3	Sensitive lets
	5.4	Hard to lets
	5.5	Reciprocal arrangements
	5.6	Offer of accommodation
	5.7	Limited Offers
	5.8	Affordability
	5.9	Refusals
	5.10	Tenancy Determination
	5.11	Tenancy Sustainment
	5.12	Lettings Plans
	5.12.1	Annual Lettings Plan
	5.12.2	Local Lettings Plan


	6	Decisions, Complaints and Reviews
	6.1	Decisions
	6.2	Complaints, Compliments and Comments
	6.3	Reviews
	6.3.1	Band 1 and Band 1+ review (Priority Card)
	6.3.2	Annual Review
	6.3.3	Disqualification Review
	6.3.4	Homelessness Suitability Review

	Review of ‘suitability’ of an offer of accommodation for households accepted as statutory homeless.
	6.3.5	Statutory Right of Review
	6.3.6	External Reviews


	Appendix 1: Allocation Panel Terms of Reference
	What is the allocation panel
	Frequency of panel meetings
	Considering disqualification

	Appendix 2: Age Restricted Properties in the Borough

	Appendix 2 Allocations Policy and Management of the Councils Housing Register
	Tamworth Borough Council Policy Review

	Appendix 3 Allocations Policy and Management of the Councils Housing Register
	Appendix 4 Allocations Policy and Management of the Councils Housing Register
	Appendix 5 Allocations Policy and Management of the Councils Housing Register


